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Education in Developing Countries: Discussion

Chairman: I apologise to members and witnesses.  We had a vote in a plenary session of the 
Dáil which resulted in our meeting starting somewhat later than scheduled.

I note that due to the easing of Covid restrictions, we have something of a hybrid meet-
ing, with some members in the room.  I see Deputies Stanton and Gannon and Senator Wilson 
online.  Most importantly, I welcome, in person, Ms Jane-Ann McKenna, CEO of Dóchas; 
Eamonn Casey, policy officer of Misean Cara; Ms Lorenza Quadrini, programmes lead, EU 
unit, Plan International Ireland; and Ms Brid Kennedy, regional programmes director, Concern 
Worldwide.  They are all welcome.  Joining us remotely, I welcome Fr. Frank Bird, director of 
Marist Asia Foundation, supported by Misean Cara, who joins us from New Zealand at an un-
godly hour of the morning.  I offer a similar warm welcome to Mr. Laban Onisimus, education 
lead, acting head of social development programmes, Plan International, who joins us from Ni-
geria.  I welcome Mr. Ahmed Ali Dirshe of Concern Worldwide, who joins us from Somalia.  I 
thank everybody for assembling with us this afternoon in Ireland and our witnesses from around 
the world for joining us at most different times of the day and night.  I welcome members who 
are present and members who are attending remotely from their offices.

The format of the meeting will include opening statements followed by a discussion with 
questions and answers with members of the committee.  I ask members to be concise in their 
questions to allow all members the opportunity to participate.  Hopefully, we will have a second 
round for members to come back if they so wish.

Education in the developing world is an important topic.  It is one of the issues that our 
members chose as something of a specialist topic for 2022, so we are grateful that the witnesses 
have joined us so early in the year.  We hope that, during the course of our year, this is an area 
that we would revert to, because it is an issue that we feel is of great importance as far as Irish 
policy, strategy and interests are concerned.  I thank the witnesses for being with us.

I remind our witnesses of the long-standing parliamentary practice that we should not criti-
cise or make charges against any person or entity by name or in such a way as to make them in 
any way identifiable, or otherwise engage in speech that might be regarded as damaging to the 
good name of that person or entity.  Therefore, if any statements are potentially defamatory in 
relation to an identifiable person, speakers will be directed to discontinue their remarks, and it is 
imperative that such a direction be complied with.  There are some limitations to parliamentary 
privilege for witnesses attending remotely outside the Leinster House campus and, as such, they 
may not benefit from the same level of immunity from legal proceedings as a witness physically 
present does.  I do not expect this will arise in the context of our discussions this afternoon.

I remind members present in the committee room, and those attending remotely from their 
offices, of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they should not comment 
on, criticise or make charges against any person outside the House, or an official, either by name 
or in such a way as to make that person identifiable.  I remind members they are only allowed 
to participate in this meeting if they are physically located within the Leinster House complex, 
which, from their backdrops, I can see they are.

I am very pleased to call Ms McKenna from Dóchas to introduce the speakers and to make 
her opening statement.  I congratulate her on her appointment as chief executive officer of Dó-
chas.  I look forward to working closely with her and her members over the coming years.  I 
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again thank all the representatives for joining our meeting.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I thank the Chairman.  I am delighted to have the opportunity to 
meet with the committee in person.  On behalf of Dóchas and our members, I warmly welcome 
the committee’s engagement with us on the issue of education in international development.  I 
also thank all committee members for their engagement with my colleagues on the Conference 
of the Parties, COP26, and the need to shift from commitment to action.  We welcome the fact 
that the Oireachtas has moved to approve the climate budget framework, which will allow for 
greater monitoring of Ireland’s actions to reduce emissions and contribute to a more sustainable 
world for current and future generations.

Today, Dóchas members would like to speak to the committee about their role in supporting 
the provision of quality education for children and young people living in marginalised commu-
nities around the world.  We know that for many of these children, conflict, poverty and the real 
impact of climate change on their livelihoods has been compounded by the devastating impact 
of Covid-19.  This pandemic has caused the largest disruption to education in history.  Since 
April 2020, global school closures have impacted over 90% of the world’s student population 
in more than 200 countries.  It is the most marginalised - girls, children with disabilities, those 
in conflict-affected regions and those living in poverty - who are bearing the brunt of school 
closures.  For example, according to recent research from the Brookings Institution, published 
last year, when schools reopened after six months of closure in Uganda and Kenya, up to 20% 
of girls failed to return.  Similarly, a study of nearly 400 of the hardest to reach rural adolescent 
girls in Kenya, Rwanda, Tanzania and Uganda found that 34% had lost a parent or guardian to 
Covid-19.  Of that number, 70% had to pursue income-generating activities and 86% could not 
afford to return to school.

This unprecedented disruption to education has rolled back substantial gains made as part of 
sustainable development goal 4 on education.  In fact, as recently as two years ago, it was pre-
dicted that getting children into primary schools was one of only two goals that were likely to 
be achieved within the timeframe.  It goes without saying that this is perhaps now no longer the 
case.  It is imperative that we act now to prevent the exit from education of millions of children, 
especially girls, from being a permanent one.  Building back stronger, more gender-responsive 
and resilient education systems that are prepared for future shocks, stresses and school closures 
requires a multipronged approach.  Underlying causes, including vaccine equity, conflict reso-
lution and equality, must be addressed to ensure that children can fulfil their right to education, 
health and protection.

I will introduce my colleagues who will speak to the committee virtually today.  Fr. Frank 
Bird will be first to speak.  He is the director for the Marist Asia Foundation, which has been 
supported by Misean Cara to carry out a Burmese migrant secondary education programme on 
the Thailand-Burma border.  We will then cross continents to speak to Laban Onisimus, educa-
tion lead with Plan International in Nigeria.  Finally, we will cross to the Horn of Africa to speak 
with Mr. Ali Dirshe who is working with Concern Worldwide in Somalia.

Here in Ireland, we recognise the importance of investing in education.  We have seen the 
real societal and economic impact this investment brings.  Today, the committee will hear how, 
against many odds, communities around the globe, supported by Dóchas members, are doing 
all they can to ensure thousands of children receive a quality education.  We ask that members 
of this committee support our aim of ensuring that all children can access safe, quality educa-
tion, no matter where they live.  We ask the committee to support the right to a free education 
for all children, especially those in marginalised and forgotten communities, and to ensure it 



4

JFAD

stresses the importance of dedicated and flexible funding for children in emergency and conflict 
settings, particularly those who are refugees or are displaced.  Finally, we ask that as part of 
Ireland’s commitment to achieving the sustainable development goals by 2030, the commit-
tee monitors and interrogates Ireland’s approach to how we can reach the furthest behind first, 
when it comes to sustainable development goal 4 on quality education.

I will hand over to Fr. Bird, who is joining us from New Zealand.

Fr. Frank Bird: I am a Marist priest of the Society of Mary and my congregation is a mem-
ber of Misean Cara.  I have been director of the Marist Asia Foundation for the past few years.  
We are extremely grateful to Irish Aid, through Misean Cara, for supporting our Burmese mi-
grant secondary education programme in southern Thailand on the Thailand-Myanmar border.

I will give some context.  In the south of Thailand, we are in what is called a migrant cor-
ridor.  From the bottom of Myanmar, we take a boat for 20 minutes and then travel into Ranong, 
a fishing town.  We have the highest density of Burmese migrants in Thailand.  Many migrants 
and their children work in fish factories, charcoal factories and construction, which are typi-
cally the dirty, dangerous and difficult jobs of migrants.  To give some context with numbers, 
an estimated 80% of migrant children do not go to school.  Of the 20% that do, 80% leave at 
age 12.  This simply continues the cycle of poverty, oppression and desperation for Myanmar 
migrant families in Thailand.

Many migrant children do not have documents.  Poor Burmese migrant families are des-
perate to survive and make their children go to work as soon as their bodies are big enough, 
which is often around the age of 12.  Discrimination between Thai and Burmese causes many 
restrictions to entry into the Thai Government school system.  Myanmar migrant children lack 
the Thai language, which means if they do get into Thai schools many of them drop out.  We 
identified five significant problems.  We recognise the need for access to inclusive, quality, 
accredited and sustainable education.  With the help of Misean Cara, we were able to develop 
a Burmese language, Thai language and English language pathway, creating access to a sec-
ondary education and creating a quality and recognized curriculum, and we promoted teacher 
education pathways so that migrants can become teachers and leaders for their own community.

We have built a centre with the support of Misean Cara, which now has 250 students and, 
amazingly, a retention rate for migrant children of more than 85% each year.  We now have 
graduates working in the United Nations, World Vision, Save the Children, the International 
Organization for Migration, the Fishers Rights Network and other civil society organisations.  
We recognised that primary education is not enough; it does not solve enough problems.  Mi-
grants need secondary education so they can become leaders and teachers and can access higher 
education.  We have what we call a fragile learning context on the border between Myanmar 
and Thailand and their two systems.  We have developed a three-language programme and we 
are now integrated into the Thailand Ministry of Education’s non-formal education programme.  
Our goal is not just education, but also leadership and development of the local community.  We 
are not in an emergency problem or a migrant problem.  We are in the midst of a community 
with great needs.  As missionaries, we can walk in different worlds and different cultures.  We 
are seen as bridge-builders and problem-solvers.  By living among the people in the long term, 
we have developed trust and collaboration.

We recognise that we cannot solve all the problems of international migration, or the mi-
grant problems for the Burmese, but we can offer them an education so that they can solve their 
problems.  We recognise that education is the greatest gift we can give to migrants, refugees and 
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displaced peoples.  I thank the members of the committee for their time and support.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I now introduce Mr. Laban Onisimus from Plan International, 
who is joining us from Nigeria.

Mr. Laban Onisimus: My name is Laban Onisimus.  I lead the education teams in conflict-
affected regions of Nigeria focusing on child protection and education in emergencies.  My key 
responsibilities involve influencing states’ commitment to ensuring access to education and 
gender-responsive education, with an emphasis on the nexus of development and humanitarian 
intervention.

The protracted crisis in the Lake Chad region remains one of the most severe humanitarian 
emergencies in the world, affecting the north-east of Nigeria and the far north of Cameroon.  
More than 17 million people have been affected across the four countries of the Lake Chad Ba-
sin.  Approximately 10.7 million of them are in dire need of humanitarian assistance to survive 
and more than 6 million of them are children.

The following are the key issues affecting us: abduction of children; sexual violence against 
girls; attacks on schools; and recruitment and use of girls for attacks.  On 14 and 15 April 2014, 
276 female students aged between 16 and 18 were abducted in Chibok in Borno State.  This 
was the first major case of abduction that received global attention.  As I address the committee 
today, some of those girls have yet to return home.  Some parents have died waiting for those 
children.  Thousands of adolescent girls have been denied the right to education and a digni-
fied life because of the 11 years of crisis in that region.  This has led to mental, emotional and 
health-related issues.  In some cases, the lack of access to healthcare facilities has resulted in 
people dying.

The root cause of this crisis is the hostility to secular education.  Because of this, we have 
repeated attacks on schools, universities, teachers, administrators and students, wreaking havoc 
on the existing fragile education system in the country.  Children are being abandoned and have 
been displaced from their communities.  Many teachers are being forced to flee to other states.

I will now digress a little bit to highlight the use of girls in armed conflict, including those 
used as suicide bombers.  Girls are normally viewed as less of a threat than their male counter-
parts.  From June 2014, when the insurgent groups reportedly deployed their first female suicide 
bomber, to date, approximately 468 women and girls have been deployed for suicide attacks.  
This is the most by any terrorist movement in the world so far.

What are we doing to respond to these challenges?  Plan International has been supporting 
the increased access to safe inclusive and quality primary and secondary education for both 
boys and girls, especially in areas of displacement and resettlement.  We have gone a step fur-
ther by providing credible alternatives for relevant and flexible accelerated basic education as 
well as non-formal education opportunities for out-of-school children.  Nigeria has the highest 
number of out-of-school children in the world with about 10.5 million children out of school.  
We are also strengthening the capacities of public administration and community engagement 
through school-based management committees to help with the delivery of safe and inclusive 
education services.

We recommend the following: improve the security conditions for adolescent girls: advo-
cate for comprehensive and sustained measures to protect education from attack; take measures 
to mitigate the security threats faced by adolescent girls as a result of the economic and associ-
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ated food and water crises; recognise that girls have their own specific rights, needs, and agency 
in humanitarian settings and require age-appropriate policy responses; facilitate access to edu-
cation, which responds to the specific needs of adolescent girls, particularly at secondary school 
level; and increase funding for development and humanitarian aid to the north-east of Nigeria.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I thank Mr. Onisimus for his insightful picture of the current 
situation in north-east Nigeria.  I will now hand over to Mr. Ahmed Ali Dirshe, of Concern 
Worldwide who is joining us from Somalia.

Mr. Ahmed Ali Dirshe: I am grateful for the opportunity to address the committee today.  
My name is Ahmed Ali Dirshe and I joined Concern’s Somalia office in 1994, one year after our 
education programme was established.  We have been providing education in Somalia, almost 
without interruption, since 1993.

“I am among the fruits of the tree that Concern planted,” said one of our former beneficiaries, 
a Member of Parliament in the south-west state.  In the video we shared before this meeting, 
members will also have seen the testimony of Ubah Mohamed, a young woman from Mogadi-
shu who studied in one of the schools Concern supports and went on to become the deputy head 
teacher.  These are just two of thousands of students Concern has supported through famine, 
drought, flooding, and conflict, with support from Irish Aid, the European Civil Protection and 
Humanitarian Aid Operations, ECHO, Education Cannot Wait, the Global Partnership for Edu-
cation, and others.  We rehabilitate damaged classrooms and provide food, water, and sanitation 
and health facilities.  We have seen significant improvements in learning outcomes by training 
teachers, reviewing school curricula, providing textbooks, and tackling gender-based violence 
and corporal punishment.  From 2004 to 2020, we supported 42 schools.  In 2021 alone, we 
enrolled more than 10,000 children, 47% girls, and supported almost 400 teachers, one third 
of them women.  Our retention rate of 85% was almost evenly spread across boys and girls.  
Generations of professionals have emerged, among them nurses, teachers, politicians, and en-
gineers.

Our approach is centred on partnership with learners, parents, elders, local institutions, and 
communities.  By establishing community education committees and ensuring that members of 
the community are involved in the design, construction, and management of schools, we have 
increased community ownership and school enrolment.

In providing education in emergencies, our focus is on access, quality, well-being, and con-
tinuity.  To ensure that our investment in education is sustainable, we advocate for the Govern-
ment to engage.  The Government has now taken over management of seven Concern-support-
ed schools in Mogadishu, in partnership with communities, and the work to ensure ownership is 
continuing.  A key aspect of our work with the Government has been to develop the community 
education committees policy framework and training manual, both of which were endorsed by 
the Ministry of Education.  To roll this out, we have trained dozens of facilitators who gave 
training in no fewer than 651 schools, reaching 4,557 committee members.  I am sure this com-
mittee will agree that this is an excellent start but more must be done to further institutionalise 
the policy framework.

One of the lessons we have learned is the need to plan for unforeseen costs and be ready to 
adapt to crises, such as flooding and pandemics.  To be able to respond and adjust quickly to 
new realities, we also need flexibility from our donors.  The generous support of Irish Aid and 
the Irish public has enabled generations of young Somalis to receive an education.



8 FEBRUARY 2022

7

I take this opportunity to call for strengthened support for peace-building and conflict-res-
olution efforts to address the root causes that threaten education, students, and teachers, and 
investments made to date.  I also call for continued funding for education in humanitarian and 
development assistance, which is an investment in the youth and future of our country.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I thank Mr. Ahmed Ali Dirshe for that great presentation which 
highlights how, even in the most difficult and challenging environments, with the right ap-
proach significant progress can be made with regard to quality education.  I would like to in-
troduce my other colleagues to the committee.  I am joined by Ms Lorenza Quadrini from Plan 
International, Mr. Eamonn Casey from Misean Cara and Brid Kennedy from Concern.  We are 
happy to answer any questions members may have on the presentations they have just heard and 
to respond to any other comments they would like to make.

Chairman: I thank our guests for their opening statements.  While they were about different 
parts of the world and different circumstances, they dealt with similar issues and challenges.  
We are very grateful for their contributions.  We will now move to questions and statements 
from members.  Senator Ardagh is first.

Senator  Catherine Ardagh: I thank Ms McKenna and her team for coming here today to 
give their really insightful presentations.  It is super how, with the advent of Covid, we have 
been able to meet people from all over the world and get their perspectives.  That is one positive 
effect of Covid.

All of the speakers referred to violence against women and the failure of girls to access 
education, which still goes on.  Women in Ireland have always known that in order to protect 
themselves they have to act in a certain way.  Our male colleagues and friends are starting to re-
alise that life is a little different for women.  We are having a conversation about that in Ireland 
now but obviously things are a lot worse for girls living in war-torn countries.

The statistic indicating that 20% of girls did not return to education after Covid is shocking.  
Disadvantaged communities in Ireland were also adversely affected by education going online, 
especially communities that did not have access to broadband but I can see how that would be a 
whole lot worse in developing and war-torn regions.  The statistics relating to migrant children 
are even worse.  While we did not get a breakdown in relation to males and females, I imagine 
the pattern is the same in terms of girls getting left behind.

The kidnapping of Chibok schoolgirls by Boko Haram happened in 2014.  Since then, it has 
largely been forgotten about, although mass kidnappings do occasionally pop up in the media.  
What could we do, perhaps in the context of our seat on the UN Security Council, to help the 
situation?

Chairman: Deputy Brady is next in line.  As Senator Joe O’Reilly is due in the Seanad at 4 
p.m, however, I ask Deputy Brady to give way to him.  In return, Senator Joe O’Reilly promises 
to be very brief and to the point.

Senator  Joe O’Reilly: I thank the Chairman and Deputy Brady for facilitating me.  I do not 
have a question on the presentations as such, which were very clear, but I want to acknowledge 
and express my appreciation and admiration for the work our guests do, both collectively and 
individually.

It is a valid point to make that while there is an absence of opportunity generally, it is a par-
ticular problem for young women.  It would seem that Covid has represented a big setback and 
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I ask our guests to comment on how that might be overcome.  Reference was made to vaccine 
equity which is an important staging point.  It is classically the case that all of the marginalised 
areas suffer the most.

I was very interested in the school described by Father Bird and the great success there.  
Perhaps he could tell us a bit more about that.  What was interesting about Mr. Onisimus’s pre-
sentation on Nigeria were the security issues it highlighted.  It is a horrendous situation with the 
security issue.  I do not know how that can be addressed.

The question we all want to ask is in what way can we do something that we are not now 
doing?  What should we, as a committee, recommend doing?

Deputy  John Brady: I welcome everyone this afternoon.  Our guests are in far flung places 
across the world.  One of the major benefits, if anything has come from the Covid world, is how 
the ability to meet online has made the world a bit smaller.  Another challenge that Covid threw 
up was in education.  In Ireland when the schools had to close, I, as a parent, saw the challenges, 
particularly as my wife tried to educate our children who were home from school and who were 
depending on the Internet.  I can only imagine the challenges in many of the places we are dis-
cussing where online education simply did not exist as an option.

I am truly shocked at the figures.  I thank the witnesses for presenting them.  It is only when 
we see the harsh realities, we see how seriously and negatively impacted communities have 
been across the globe.  I am looking at the figures for Kenya, Rwanda, Tanzania, and Uganda 
where 34% have lost a parent.  That is absolutely heartbreaking.  In Uganda and Kenya 20% of 
girls have not returned to school.  That is frightening.  Some of the reasons for this were out-
lined.  We see that in areas of conflict.  This committee has heard before how getting women’s 
input into any peace process is invaluable.  Women can be kingpins in many of these communi-
ties and are the first to fall out of those processes to go back to hold the family together and keep 
food on the table and provide for the family.  It is having a really negative impact.

Vaccine equity was touched on.  We were one of the first committees to hold hearings on 
vaccine inequity and we made specific asks.  Unfortunately, we remain in a situation where we 
do not have vaccine equity.  What is the real impact of this?   We talk about the 20% of the girls 
who have failed to return to school for various reasons.  How much of that is due to their not 
being vaccinated and the fear of spreading Covid?

I agree with the three primary requests outlined by Ms McKenna.  This committee should 
seriously look at these.  I would support them fully as a very basic and essential tool to make 
inroads into the areas needed.  

Irish Aid is a key tool for exerting our influence and for us to make an input to address a 
very serious challenge.  How much of the funds are going to these areas, including education?

It is probably different across the countries but is there a rough figure for how many chil-
dren, a percentage of the population, were in the education system prior to Covid and how do 
the figures compare now?  What is a reduction of 20% in real terms mean?

I commend all the organisations here and particularly those who have been on the ground 
during very challenging times who have kept the show on the road.  I commend the teams of 
people and the volunteers who undertake the invaluable work.  On my own behalf, I thank ev-
eryone from the bottom of my heart.
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Chairman: I propose that we go back to the witnesses for a response before we return to 
the members.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I thank everyone for their questions and comments.  It is great to 
have such an engaged discussion on this.  I will ask Mr. Onisimus in Nigeria who is probably 
the expert on this to respond to Senator Ardagh.  Under Irish Aid’s policy for a better world, 
gender is a key area.  Ireland has shown great leadership at UN level on promoting the inclusion 
of girls particularly on education and in other areas.  Will Mr. Onisimus outline what he thinks 
Ireland can do on the direct attack on schools or to ensure that the safety of schools is protected?

Mr. Laban Onisimus: Prior to 2021 the country had no policy on school safety and secu-
rity.  I am sure members will know that in October last year, we hosted an international confer-
ence on the safe school declaration.  Nigeria is a member country having signed the declaration 
which means that we have a policy in place.  It is one thing to have a policy and another for us 
to really popularise it and know what it entails and thereby implement it.  It is a question of our 
popularising the safe school declaration policy and continuous sensitisation to the community 
on school safety because the solution lies in the community in terms of early-warning signals 
for schools.  The attacks, not just the Chibok, have happened in so many areas of the country.  In 
May around 300 or 400 children were abducted at the same time.  These terrorists do not come 
unnoticed.  There are key areas in the community and we will have to sensitise each and every 
member of the community on early warning signals.

Then there is the need for strong political will to stop this.  We know it is a security issue but 
there is a political aspect to it too.  There is a need for the government to ensure that it deploys a 
strong political commitment to stopping abduction in schools.  The list of abductions in Nigeria 
goes on and on.  I believe that once the safe school declaration is popularised and that the com-
munity is sensitised and you train teachers and children on early warning signals, it would be 
one way to prevent cases of abduction and attacks on schools in Nigeria. 

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I will address Deputy Brady’s questions on Covid-19 and vac-
cine equity.  I know the committee has discussed this.  Members might be familiar with the 
People’s Vaccine Alliance here in Ireland which is championing the issue.  I believe we can 
agree on the impact of vaccines in Ireland in allowing us to return to a sense of normality and 
children to return to school.  That is critical worldwide.

My colleague Ms Kennedy will go through some of the actions we could take to overcome 
some of the challenges associated with building back better, ensuring the exit of girls from 
education does not become more permanent and determining how we can include them in the 
next few years.

Ms Brid Kennedy: One reason children are not returning to school after the pandemic is 
the worsening economic crisis in an increasing number of countries.  Both issues are inextri-
cably linked.  Children are ending up in more child-labour circumstances because, as we have 
heard, one or both parents of a child may be dying.  Some parents who are not employed find it 
easier to get the children employed, with girls in one role and boys in another.  It is important 
to address the economic situation, support good governance and support governments to be ac-
countable and deliver on their own plans for their countries.

On the question of what we can do, we should support the right to free education, be it 
through NGOs or through supporting governments in providing good-quality education sys-
tems that allow children to go to school such that they do not have to do child labour to support 
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their families to survive.  Also, we could interrogate how we can reach the furthest behind, es-
pecially regarding sustainable development goal 4, which is all about quality education.  Chil-
dren often drop out of school because the system in school is not favourable.  It may not be safe 
to go to school and there may be corporal punishment.  The physical shapes of schools may not 
be good, and there are rainy seasons and very hot seasons.  Therefore, it is a matter of determin-
ing how we can support quality education.

The funding word was mentioned but it is a matter of increasing funding.  We really com-
mend the Irish Government on how it has been continually increasing funding for education in 
recent years.  That is making a difference.  The statistics in general show more children have 
been getting educated over the past two decades than before that.  The pandemic has resulted 
in a bit of a setback so it is a question of getting the figures back up again.  Education in devel-
opment and emergency contexts must be considered.  Only in the past few years has ECHO, 
the humanitarian organisation of the EU, started funding education in emergencies.  Education 
needs to be prioritised almost as much as the provision of food, water and shelter in emergency 
contexts so children will not fall back into dreadful coping strategies required by their parents.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: One of Deputy John Brady’s questions was on what Ireland has 
committed.  We have committed over €250 million to be spent over the next five years on qual-
ity education.  How we can target those who are furthest behind is yet to be seen.  I will hand 
over to Mr. Casey to address the issue of progress made prior to Covid-19, particularly with 
regard to the strategic development goals and what catching up we must do now.

Mr. Eamonn Casey: As Ms Kennedy pointed out, there was solid progress on access before 
the Covid-19 pandemic.  Unfortunately, owing to the pandemic’s health implications and the 
social restrictions introduced by governments across the world, 1.5 billion children were put out 
of school across the world.  When we hear about the percentage who will not be able to go back 
to school, we understand that as many as 20 million may not be able to do so, on top of hundreds 
of millions who were not able to go to school before the pandemic.  Therefore, there are genuine 
problems with access.  When children and youths get into a school, an important issue arises 
over quality.  Certainly for girls, there is the core issue of getting into school.  It is a matter of 
protection as much as education.  The two really go hand in hand.  Protection is to avoid early 
marriage, trafficking and child labour.  Once the girls are in school, there is a genuine chance of 
quality education that will improve their circumstances.

Our faith-based organisations working in education are trying to tackle the supply-side bar-
riers to access, especially girls’ access — for instance, through improving schooling, improving 
sanitary supplies and facilities, tackling unsafe environments, as Ms Kennedy mentioned, and 
addressing the issue of distance to school, sometimes by providing bicycles or safe transport.  
Also, there are sometimes genuine challenges associated with persuading people of the value 
of going to school when their households are poor or when it is a challenge.  It is therefore a 
matter of addressing attitudes to schooling, especially girls’ schooling, and of ensuring a value 
is attached to it.  Much of the time, there is a genuine outreach issue in persuading parents, 
communities, community elders and local politicians to support girls’ education and in raising 
awareness of rights concerning sexual health and avoiding unplanned pregnancy.   It is a ques-
tion of holistic approaches to increasing household income so households do not regard the cost 
of educating people, especially girls, as insurmountable.

Despite the scale of the challenge, there really are positive stories of success — for instance, 
in northern Nigeria.  Even in South Sudan and Somalia and in situations of conflict and fragility, 
there still can be stories of success if you stick at it for the long term and especially if you reach 
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out to the furthest behind.  In addition to NGOs and missionary organisations strengthening ac-
cess and quality and supporting systems, they tend to have a particular focus on reaching out to 
the furthest behind.  I am conscious that I may have used more than my share of time.  One of 
the ways we have done what I am talking about in Misean Cara has been by focusing education 
efforts on post-conflict environments, slum environments and isolated rural areas, in particular, 
and also by exercising positive discrimination in how we support projects that offer educational 
supports to people with disability, girls, migrants, and internally and forcibly displaced people.  
These are some of the ways in which we are responding to strategic development goal 4.

Chairman: I assure Mr. Casey that he did not over-speak, because that was an important 
contribution.  I thank him.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I hope we have addressed many of the queries but we are happy 
to answer more questions.

Chairman: I thank Ms McKenna.  I call Deputy Stanton, who is to be followed by Senator 
Craughwell.

Deputy  David Stanton: I welcome our guests to the meeting and thank them for their pre-
sentation and the unbelievable work that is going on across the world in areas of tremendous 
conflict.  On reading one of the submissions, I was struck by the fact that teachers had to flee 
into the jungle because they were afraid.  A couple of hundred years ago, we had hedge schools 
in Ireland because education was not allowed in certain circumstances.  People were taught in 
fields, hedges and so on.  What has been described today is so much worse because Covid, cli-
mate change, conflict, corruption and extreme poverty are all rolled into one in many areas, yet 
there are people putting their own lives at risk to deliver education.  I am struck as well by the 
human potential where you have girls and boys saying they want to be doctors and teachers.  If 
the help is given they can achieve those ambitions, which is fantastic.

I am struck also by the issue of the use of sexual violence, rape, etc., and how awful that is.  
We had that debate last night on our national broadcaster, but I refer to the scale and extent of 
it there.  It is used as a weapon of war.  It is horrific.  I am not sure what we can do about that.

Irish Aid and the NGOs are doing tremendous work.  There is a lot of money being spent 
and we are a very small country.  For many years, Irish missionaries and Irish NGOs have 
been respected and have been working across the world.  I met many ministers from different 
countries in the UN a number of years ago who acknowledged that.  Is there any other country 
out there that is doing good work that could be shown as an example of best practice so that we 
could look at it as well?  How is the First World generally responding to the challenges and can 
we, in our role in the United Nations, do more to highlight what is going on?

Many people in Ireland do not realise what has been described today or do not know about 
it because it is not something that is highlighted here.  My God, I think we live in an oasis here 
in Ireland compared to what was described, which, in many instances, one could say was hell 
on earth, and yet we have stories of success which are great to hear.

It is something that we need to do more on.  Our place in the United Nations may be some-
thing we could use more to highlight this and maybe our own broadcasters here could do what 
they can to highlight what is going on there.  I am shocked at what I have heard.  I cannot even 
begin to imagine what some people are having to go through.

I thank our guests for being here today and say “Well done” for the work they are doing.  
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They certainly made an impact, on me and on my colleagues as well.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: I thank our guests for being with us today.

Looking at the presentations that were made and the written work that was sent in, I have 
to say it is utterly depressing.  As the brother of eight sisters, the father of a daughter and the 
grandfather of two beautiful granddaughters, it is utterly depressing to think that sexual vio-
lence is the way we fight wars and the way we deal with these things.

On the positive side, as a teacher I engaged with many Nigerian students in particular, and 
the work ethic that I saw from them was way above the average.  That is great.  It strikes me, 
when we are talking about funding, that the days of funding education alone are over as that is 
no longer a solution to the problem because there is personal security involved.  One has an im-
age of young women travelling to and from school and constantly in danger of being assaulted 
or kidnapped.  There were 276 girls taken from a school.  It strikes me that not only do we need 
to fund the teachers, we need also to fund secure environments and secure transport.  I am not 
even sure if they should travel home.  Perhaps we should be looking at some form of boarding 
school for safe education.  That is something I would like them to address.

Do they have any evidence today of the take up between male and female students?  I am 
aware, for example, here in Ireland among certain ethnic groups that there is male engagement 
in the education system up to approximately the age of 16 at which stage they withdraw totally, 
but the females continue on.  I have seen some wonderful work among some of the ethnic 
groups, but mainly from females.  The males seem to have departed by 16.  I wonder does that 
follow through when we are talking about Somalia, Nigeria and other such countries.

The speaker from Somalia spoke about outcomes.  Every time I hear the word “outcomes” 
the hair on the back of my neck stands up.  As a former teacher, something that really bothered 
me about the way EU funding in education in Ireland was going was it was based on outcomes.  
Funding would follow based on how many students did you take, how many modules did they 
study and how many they pass whereas for some of us to survive a year attending school, 
maybe three days a week rather than five, would be a massive achievement.  Over a period of 
time, it might take a student three years to achieve what another student could achieve in one 
academic year.  With all due respect to the presenter from Somalia who I fully understand, I 
worry when I hear statistics on outcomes and that sort of thing.  For me, it is far more impor-
tant that a student would attend and start to develop an educational programme which might 
take longer than one year or two.  Going back to my own education days, it was my experience 
that some of the worst students I had in first year in further education turned out to be the most 
dedicated students by third year.

Our guests mentioned the vaccine programme.  They will be aware that we had a fairly 
significant debate in the Seanad on the issue of vaccine equality throughout the world.  I am 
still horrified, and it still bothers me every day, that one of the major drug companies is making 
$65,000 a minute on the vaccine while we have tens of millions of people in the world who 
cannot be vaccinated.  I say that because I think our guests need to say that all day, every day.  
They need to get that out there.  The animal instincts of capitalism in the case of vaccine are 
utterly sickening.

On the issue of Afghanistan, when we took over the UN Security Council seat our ambas-
sador made a statement about how we stand with the women and girls of Afghanistan.  I was 
quite critical of that at the time because words are easy to say.  I wonder have our guests any 
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knowledge as to what is happening in that part of the world.  Where are we with girls, particu-
larly girls’ education?  I stated here previously that I cannot imagine what it must be like to be 
17 years of age, having been through the education system in Afghanistan and suddenly have it 
all taken away from you.  I cannot begin to understand it.

My final question is about multinationals which have, for the want of a better description, 
raped these countries of their resources.  How much funding is coming from multinationals?  
Does anything come the way of our guests from multinationals that are involved in these areas?

I thank our guests very much for the work they do.

Chairman: I do not see other members offering.  Deputy Gannon has left for the Chamber 
where there are statements.

Before bringing matters to a formal conclusion, I will add to the questions of the members 
who spoke most recently.  I refer to Ms McKenna’s opening statement.  With particular refer-
ence to the sustainable development goals, SDGs, in particular, goal 4, Ms McKenna states, 
and we have heard this previously in the context of Covid, that the pandemic itself and the 
consequent social restrictions, and the economic consequences of such social restrictions, have 
blown the SDG targets off course.  It seems from Ms McKenna’s statement that with the last 
two SDGs, one of which we are dealing with today, namely, goal 4 on education, whatever 
chance we had of reaching that target is blown off course now with Covid.  That means that 
none of the goals will have their targets reached by 2030.  With specific reference to education, 
I note that SDG 4 deals not only with education but “quality” education.  That word is used.  
Before we conclude, I ask some of our guests at the coalface to deal with the issue of quality.  
For me, quality education means attaining a certain standard, having quality teaching, having 
a reasonable type of infrastructure and having a class size that might be considered appropriate 
for the delivery of quality education.  It appears that in some countries, particularly some Af-
rican countries, class sizes could be off the Richter scale as far as we are concerned in Ireland, 
with 100, 120 or 130 people, perhaps no formal hours and perhaps competing interests of a type 
Mr. Casey mentioned.  My question is a difficult one but how do our guests see SDG 4 on the 
matter of quality education coming back to some type of realisable target for 2030, and that the 
developed world does not just engage in some hand-wringing and say it is not going to reach 
this goal because of the Covid-19 pandemic?  What can we do to catch up, as it were?

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: There were a few questions there.  I will start with your question 
with regard to quality, Chairman, because it touches on Senator Craughwell’s comment regard-
ing outcomes and what we are measuring in the context of quality education, and that it is not 
just about access but about the long-term impact we are having.  I will hand over to Fr. Bird to 
comment on how we are measuring or able to measure quality education and what it looks like 
in practice with regard to SDG 4.

Fr. Frank Bird: We found access was important with free education.  As more and more 
students began to join the education programme we hit the quality issue.  The quality education 
programme is based on a quality teacher.  How can we get quality teaching in fragile contexts?  
Misean Cara supported us in adopting an integrated model.  After a secondary education, we 
had an online university programme which trained teachers.  It is not a scholarship model that 
sends a person away out of his or her community, which is very expensive.  We train locally, 
using online university programmes for training teachers.  They taught and they were learning 
and becoming educated teachers in their community, not sent away for four years and possibly 
never to return.
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Quality education can be accessed through online university systems and it builds hope, 
especially for the teenage girls, that they can become teachers.  With girls, parents want them 
to be safe, and they are safe at home, sometimes at school.  Teaching is a very well-regarded 
role in the community and it provides very positive role models.  There are university online 
systems that are providing teacher education.  We have benefited from that and it has grown 
the quality of our education programme because we are not just asking for volunteers or having 
a secondary graduate, but having someone who is trained.  Online university has been a very 
significant part for us to bring quality education to our migrant education programmes.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I thank Fr. Bird.  Another question initially was about where 
there are examples of other countries that are doing well in this regard or where we can learn 
from, perhaps, the different initiatives that have been introduced that have been quite success-
ful.  I will ask Ms Quadrini to address that.

Ms Lorenza Quadrini: I do not want to talk about other countries as I would like to stay 
focused on Nigeria.  The picture from Nigeria is very grim but we are working to improve the 
situation with Plan International.  We are especially targeting out-of-school children.  Globally, 
20% of the out-of-school children of the world are in Nigeria.  We are targeting those children 
through EU funding.  We have developed an accelerated education curriculum that has been 
approved by the ministry of Nigeria and has been approved for roll-out countrywide.  We are 
hoping to bring back as many children as possible to school - children who were not in school 
before Covid and children who are not coming back to school after Covid.

We are piloting the curriculum in a programme that is ongoing and we have found that we 
actually can gather all the children who want to go back to school.  In organising the courses, 
training the teachers and organising the courses in facilities that are safe, with the number of 
students per teacher at no more than 45 children per teacher, as the guidelines say is best prac-
tice, we have seen not only that the children learn but also that they do not want to go back 
to primary school when they have learned enough to be reintegrated.  Unfortunately, primary 
school does not allow them to have the same level of protection and the same level of quality of 
education that we are providing to them in those courses.  That is a new challenge that we are 
trying to solve now.

That links to the issue of quality education, but it also shows that there is still hope, even in 
countries and in contexts that are getting worse by the year.  When we started the programme 
in north-east Nigeria the security was not good but definitely was not as bad as it is now.  How-
ever, we are still managing to get success.  We are working with 123 primary schools and we 
are managing to get the children back to school and managing to teach them as best as we can 
with the infrastructure we have.  We have great teachers in Nigeria because they are qualified 
and good teachers.  I do not know if this answers the question, but I hope it brings some hope.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: It also demonstrates how flexible funding can allow for pilot 
programmes to be introduced that are adapted to local circumstances or the changing context in 
many of the places in which we work.

Chairman: It also demonstrates how one can turn a challenging negative into a positive.  
Thank you for that.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I will hand over to Mr. Dirshe in Somalia with regard to the 
question about the drop off of girls in school comparative to boys.  Where do we see that drop 
off happening and what are some of the measures that have been taken, from his example in 
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Somalia which has been quite successful in retaining girls in school in those challenging cir-
cumstances?

Mr. Ahmed Ali Dirshe: We have come a long way in getting that number of girls into 
school.  Initially, when we started the programme in 1993, we had a very small percentage 
of girls attending school.  Mostly, it was that the civil war was at the peak at the time.  The 
understanding of the people of sending girls to school was very low at the time.  Also, people 
in our culture were not used to sending girls into school.  From there we have tried our best 
to encourage parents onto CECs.  Initially we built the community education committees who 
were managing, because at the time there was no government at all in Somalia.  We were deal-
ing directly with the community.  We established community education committees.  We gave 
them training and then we also gave them awareness so that they encouraged parents to send 
their girls.  There is still a long way to go but we have reached the point that some 40% of girls 
are now attending the schools supported by Concern.  One of the approaches we used was to 
recruit female teachers, which was not done at the time.  When we were recruiting the teachers, 
I remember we advocated that a proportion of female contenders apply.  We set the number at 
50% of the school teachers.  That is how these teachers became models for the girls and parents 
started sending their girls to school.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I thank Mr. Dirshe.  That reiterates Mr. Onisimus’s point that fe-
male educators are one of the key areas we need to address in terms of driving girls’ education.  
I will hand over to Ms Kennedy to respond to the question for Afghanistan.  Concern is working 
in Afghanistan at the moment and probably has a good perspective on the situation there.

Ms Brid Kennedy: Afghanistan is at a point somewhat similar to where Somalia was, as 
Mr. Ahmed explained.  Concern’s approach to education has evolved over the years and has 
become much more community focused.  As Senator Craughwell said, we used to look only 
at numbers of children rather than quality.  Over the years, we have developed an approach of 
working with the community, parents, caregivers, girls and boys, and working with teacher 
training right up to national level where we can.  We are trying to use that model in Afghani-
stan with the support of Irish Aid.  In the areas where we are working in Afghanistan we are 
able to access our education programme and deliver it in that manner.  There are other areas in 
Afghanistan where this permission has not been given.  We are maximising on the permissions 
we have.  Irish Aid is very flexible and we welcome that but a number of donors have sanctions 
against the current government in Afghanistan in the areas of education and health.  We encour-
age the Irish Government to use whatever leverage it has to lift those sanctions because we are 
denying fundamental basic human rights to children who have no responsibility for contribut-
ing to this war.  They should not be denied their basic rights.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: For the people who follow these debates, the last few 
words Ms Kennedy uttered on the impact that sanctions would have on Concern’s programme 
are extremely important.  If I heard right, she was asking that sanctions, particularly in the area 
of education, be lifted.

Ms Brid Kennedy: Correct.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: I thank Ms Kennedy.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: The main question remaining was on safe school places and 
some of the practical measures being put in place to enable children to attend school safely and 
regularly.  I will hand over to Mr. Casey to address that.
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Mr. Eamonn Casey: We have looked at this, particularly in regard to girls.  Safety in 
schools is a particular problem.  In one respect, much of it comes down to teachers.  Much of 
the time, there has been a culture where corporal punishment is accepted and acceptable.  A big 
part of the challenge is to change this cultural attitude.  While the laws or policies may change, 
the culture does not necessarily change.  It is often about trying to bring the teachers and school 
leaders with us.  That starts outside the school because the teachers are not going to change their 
cultural attitudes if they are in a community, district or region where the prevailing attitude is 
that it is okay to inflict corporal punishment on students.

A particular emphasis on safe schools would be tackling gender-based violence in schools.  
Other measures include addressing student-on-student violence, which can occur, engaging 
family support and communities, improving sanitary infrastructure for girls, which is often a 
flashpoint of difficulty that causes girls to leave school, and improving school infrastructure.  
There are times - this came up in a briefing we had with the committee in 2019 - where dormi-
tories are necessary.  While they bring their own challenges, both in terms of cost and protec-
tion, sometimes in the wider chaotic environment they are the only option.  Much of the time, it 
depends on the context and changing attitudes, behaviours and policies with school leadership.

Misean Cara has a flagship programme in South Africa where we support a project through 
some of our members.  It seeks to improve school behaviours and address violence across all 
the Catholic schools in South Africa and learn from each other about what works.  Crucially, it 
does not stick only to Catholic schools but is also linked in with the ministry and its strategic 
leadership unit to see what kind of practices work best and in what kinds of locations in order 
that they can be brought in across the state system.  That is the kind of strengthening of the 
educational system the project is trying to model in Catholic schools and then expand to all the 
schools.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: On the security issue in schools, in parts of Africa we 
have seen young men as young as ten or 11 years running around the place with Kalashnikov 
rifles.  Violence seems to be the name of the game for them.  Does Mr. Casey envisage the pos-
sibility of needing to have armed guards around the school to allow for a safe environment?  I 
know the two things are mutually repugnant but the important thing is to get quality education 
in a safe environment.  Does he see any need for that?

Mr. Eamonn Casey: I cannot imagine that kind of a context because what really works is 
where the education is embedded in the local community and responds to the relevance for the 
local community and the demand for education in the local community.  It has to be tailored to 
the cultural context.  Sometimes we may want to challenge or change the cultural context but 
I cannot imagine a situation where there would be a securitised approach.  It would be about 
building trust and relationships and maybe bringing in measures like safe cycling and walking 
routes to school or negotiating with local elders and tribal leaders to create community ap-
proaches to tackle community problems, rather than a securitised approach.

Chairman: I am going to wind our way towards a conclusion.  On behalf of the joint com-
mittee, I thank our guests for joining us and for their submissions and the comprehensive man-
ner in which they dealt with members’ questions.  As I said, this is an area the committee has 
indicated will be a specialist topic for us during the course of the year and on which we intend 
to produce a report.  This engagement has been important to us and very informative.  It is one 
to which we will revert.

Before I ask Ms McKenna to make a final comment, I thank her colleagues, Ms Quadrini, 
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Mr. Casey and Ms Kennedy, for joining us.  I express the appreciation of the committee mem-
bers to Fr. Frank Bird in New Zealand, Mr. Onisimus in Nigeria and Mr. Ahmed in Somalia.  
Oftentimes we look on technology from a negative perspective but this afternoon we have seen 
its joys.  I thank the witnesses for their contributions.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: On Ms Kennedy’s point about sanctions, I ask that the 
committee write to the Department and ask that we make representation on the lifting of sanc-
tions for education.

Chairman: We will include reference to that.  I want to acknowledge what Deputy Brady 
said earlier when he indicated a proposal that we would accept the recommendations as put 
forward and we should do that.  We can include reference to what Senator Craughwell said, 
albeit that is a difficult political issue.  I agree we should look at options when it comes to Af-
ghanistan but there are real and serious political concerns about any form of recognition of the 
regime there.  I do not see any options on the table and if members agree with that we can urge 
the Government to look at a suite of options that do not appear to be present in Afghanistan at 
the moment.

I notice members of the media present this afternoon.  We were previously restricted in that 
regard due to Covid.  I would remind them, as I remind our guests, that this time last year the 
committee produced an important and comprehensive report on Covid-19, vaccine equality and 
COVAX, which Deputy Brady referred to.  We should reiterate and reaffirm our support for the 
contents of that report, which might not have found favour in the greater political debate, as 
they did within the confines of this room.  I acknowledge Deputy Brady’s reminder of that and 
I agree with him.  I acknowledge the important work of Irish Aid and Misean Cara, as has been 
mentioned.  I will leave the final word to Ms McKenna and I thank her for being with us.

Ms Jane-Ann McKenna: I thank the committee for having us in to share some of the prog-
ress that has been made as a result of Irish Aid’s funding and Ireland’s support for education and 
we hope this continues.  It is obvious from many of the contributions today – and I particularly 
thank those who joined us from Somalia, Nigeria and New Zealand – that regardless of where 
we are in the world there are some common approaches that work in progressing education for 
those who are marginalised and for girls.  In particular, I mention having a community-based 
approach and targeted programmes that are addressed and tailored towards girls to ensure their 
participation.  There are a number of groups that fall outside educational systems, including mi-
grants and refugees.  We need to ensure they are brought in and that those who are the furthest 
behind get access to education and fulfil their right to quality education.

Chairman: I thank Ms McKenna for being with us and we look forward to continued en-
gagement throughout the year.

Sitting suspended at 4.43 p.m. and resumed at 4.47 p.m.

Review of Workplace Arrangements: Department of Foreign Affairs

Chairman: I welcome the Minister for Foreign Affairs and Defence, Deputy Coveney, and 
the Secretary General at the Department of Foreign Affairs, Joe Hackett, to discuss the pub-
lished report into the workplace arrangements in Iveagh House on 17 June 2020.  I understand 
the Minister and the Secretary General will be making opening statements and following this 



18

JFAD

we will move to questions and answers with members of the committee.

I remind witnesses of the long-standing parliamentary practice that they should not criticise 
or make charges against any person or entity by name or in such a way as to make that person 
identifiable, or otherwise engage in speech that might be regarded as damaging to the good 
name of any person or entity.

I remind members of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they should 
not comment on, criticise, or make charges against any person outside the Houses or an official, 
either by name or in a way that makes that person identifiable.  I remind members that they 
may only participate in the meeting by remote means if they are physically present in offices 
or rooms on the Leinster House complex.  I note that some members are joining us from their 
offices in accordance with the hybrid arrangements following Covid.

I welcome the Minister.  I understand there is a parallel debate in the Dáil Chamber, which 
may impact our proceedings, but I call on the Minister to make his opening statement, followed 
by the Secretary General.  I thank the Minister again for meeting us today.

Minister for Foreign Affairs  (Deputy  Simon Coveney): I thank members for this op-
portunity to speak with them.  I know a lot is happening today.  On 17 June 2020, Ireland was 
elected to a seat on the UN Security Council.  This was a massive achievement.  It was the suc-
cessful culmination of a 15-year effort and an intense two-year global campaign by Ministers 
and Irish officials, showcasing Ireland’s values of empathy, partnership and independence, and 
convincing members of the UN that Ireland would be a voice for good on international peace 
and security issues, representing the perspectives of small countries.

On 17 June, as planned and approved in advance, a team of officials were carrying out es-
sential duties in the workplace in Iveagh House ahead of an announcement of the first round 
election voting that evening.  Those officials were ready to work through the night to conduct 
a full campaign in the 17 hours or so ahead of a possible second round of voting scheduled to 
begin on the morning of 18 June, in New York, to secure a seat for Ireland.

On that evening there was a breach of social distancing guidance that has caused genuine 
and understandable concern to members of the committee and to the broader Irish public.  This 
involved the publication of a photograph from the offices of Iveagh House showing some of the 
very same dedicated team I have just spoken of.  In response to the concerns expressed, and to 
establish the facts of the matter, on 13 January I asked the Secretary General of the Department 
of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Joe Hackett, who is here with me, for a report by the end of January 
into the circumstances leading up to this workplace incident.  I received the report, Review of 
Workplace Arrangements in Iveagh House on 17 June 2020, on 31 January and sent it to the 
committee.  It was also published that day.  The Secretary General, Mr. Hackett, is here today 
to outline for the committee the contents of the report and its findings and to take any questions 
members might have.

For my part, I am satisfied that the review, drawing on extensive oral and written evidence 
as set out in the report, provides a fair, balanced and, where appropriate, critical account of the 
events of 17 June 2020.  I support the conclusions of the review as well as the actions taken by 
the Secretary General in response.  The Secretary General, on behalf of the Department, has 
clearly acknowledged that valid public concerns were raised by the photograph and the breach 
of Covid guidelines and that a mistake was made, and a sincere apology was given.
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I wish to take this opportunity to provide an account of my movements over the course of 
the day in question, as far as I can recall them over 19 months later.  On 17 June 2020 I had a 
busy workday.  I spent part of the day in Iveagh House and part of it in Government Buildings.  
For context, we were about a week out from forming a Government.  I was involved in nego-
tiating the programme for Government and at the time my party was considering the proposed 
document.  I was heavily involved in those briefings too.  Early on the evening of 17 June 2020 
I was in Iveagh House before I moved to Government Buildings to watch the outcome of the 
Security Council vote with the Taoiseach.  I passed through the open plan UN policy unit office 
space in Iveagh House on my way out.  This would have been well before 8 p.m., which was 
the original time at which the announcement of the results had been expected.  The UN team 
was busy working away in the various parts of the office.  I recall there being a build-up and 
lots of expectation in advance of the vote.  There was lots of nervousness too.  In the previous 
few weeks we had had to change our campaign planning because of the pandemic.  I had can-
celled all travel and in-person meetings and had spoken on the phone to more than 80 foreign 
ministers to ask them to support Ireland’s bid.  Ireland was up against formidable opponents in 
Norway and Canada.

When we took the seat in the first round vote I was relieved and delighted with the result.  I 
took it as an endorsement of all the campaign efforts of the Government.  It was and still is an 
acknowledgement by other countries, big and small, that Ireland has an important contribution 
to make on the crucial matters of international peace and security that are central to the discus-
sions on the UN Security Council.

After the vote, which finally came in at about 9.10 p.m., a lot later than expected, I prepared 
for and then attended a press conference in Government Buildings to welcome the result.  The 
press conference was live-streamed beginning at around 9.25 p.m. and concluding at around 
9.55 p.m.  Following the press conference, I made my way back to work in Iveagh House and 
went through the open plan office to congratulate the UN policy unit team.  I stayed there for 
about ten to 15 minutes.  I saw a happy but tired group of staff after a long day.  Some were 
packing up to go home, some had already gone home and some were on phones and comput-
ers continuing their work.  After I spoke and said “thank you” to the team who had worked so 
hard that day, I went to my office to prepare for a call with the Norwegian foreign minister and 
to meet with members of my team to discuss the next morning, which included a number of 
requests for media interviews.  We decided which ones I would do.

I was told by a member of my team that a group photograph had been tweeted.  The tweet 
was later taken down and the mistake acknowledged by the then Secretary General, Niall Bur-
gess.  At the time, I saw this as a mistake by the then Secretary General.  With the benefit of 
hindsight, however, I accept I should have raised the matter with him formally.  I did not at the 
time.  This was a breach of Covid guidelines in the workplace and should not have happened.  
The report before the committee outlines the details of what has flowed from that.

I wish to note that this mistake made by the former Secretary General was highly unchar-
acteristic of him.  Niall Burgess is a very dedicated public servant who, during the pandemic, 
made a significant contribution by overseeing our response to the biggest consular emergency 
in the history of the State, with tens of thousands of citizens trapped or in difficulty overseas.  
The Department of Foreign Affairs I know is the one that had to get trapped Irish citizens off 
cruise ships all over the world when the pandemic was first declared.  The Department I know 
during Covid organised charter flights from India and South America and block-booked doz-
ens of scheduled flights with airlines to bring our people home.  This is what I saw day in and 
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day out until and beyond 17 June 2020.  The team working in Iveagh House that day are those 
committed, hard-working and diligent civil servants.  The photograph and the breach of Covid 
guidelines, which I am not excusing at all, do not do justice to the integrity and dedication of 
that group of people.

The photograph was public at the time, in June 2020, but the controversy and public anger 
surrounding it surfaced later, in December 2021.  I asked my Secretary General, Mr. Hackett, 
to undertake this review and he set the terms of reference.  The review focused on the breach 
of Covid guidelines in the workplace captured in the photograph that was tweeted that evening 
as well as the events leading up to it, which are detailed in hundreds of pages of emails and 
planning documents in the annexe to the report that was produced.  I was not present for the 
photograph, and my interaction with the staff involved took place after the photograph had 
been taken.  As Accounting Officer for the Department, it is the role of the Secretary General to 
review perceived breaches of conduct by staff in the workplace.  It was right that the Secretary 
General was supported by senior officials in the human resources division, who are responsible 
for setting and monitoring standards and behaviours for staff.

This is a matter of deep regret for all involved.  I hope the report, the appearance of both 
me and the Secretary General before the committee today, the establishment of the facts of the 
matter, the acknowledgement that mistakes were made and the sincere apologies of the vari-
ous people involved can help us to achieve a sense of perspective on this matter and to allow 
us to refocus on continuing with the work the Department is carrying out, including on the UN 
Security Council.  Ireland’s winning of a seat on the UN Security Council on the evening of 17 
June was the result of many years of dedication by so many and an endorsement of the values 
the people of Ireland uphold.

Ireland continues to play an important role in the Security Council.  Last week, during a visit 
to Ireland, it was heartening to hear the praise for Ireland’s role on the Security Council by the 
Deputy Secretary-General of the United Nations, Amina Mohammed, with particular emphasis 
on our leadership on advancing women’s leadership, peace and security, climate action, and 
security and peacekeeping.  This reflects the excellent work by staff in the Department and at 
the UN in New York as well as those in the Department of Defence and the Defence Forces.  
We will continue these efforts over the next ten and half months or so, our remaining time on 
the Security Council.

I totally understand that people would look at the photograph tweeted that night and rightly 
have questions about what was going on.  I can understand why people would be annoyed, an-
gry and upset, given the sacrifices they and their families have made through this Covid period.  
This incident should not have happened.  The former Secretary General has acknowledged this, 
and the current Secretary General has apologised again on behalf of the Department.  I look 
forward to members’ questions and thank them for this opportunity.

Mr. Joe Hackett: I thank the committee for this opportunity to speak with it.  On 13 Janu-
ary, I commenced a review of adherence to public health advice, workplace protocols and ar-
rangements in place in Iveagh House on 17 June 2020.  I undertook to provide a report on the 
matter to the Minister by the end of January.  As Accounting Officer with responsibility for the 
proper administration of the Department, I appointed two senior officials from the human re-
sources division to a review team to conduct meetings with staff, gather clear accounts of what 
happened that day and examine all relevant departmental records.  I delivered the report to the 
Minister on 31 January and he directed that it be published that day.
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I acknowledge the concern expressed by members of this committee and the wider public 
about the incident that occurred in the workplace shortly after Ireland was elected to a non-
permanent seat on the UN Security Council.  As Secretary General, I would like to say sorry 
to this committee and to the public, and to acknowledge the offence caused.  In doing so, I am 
particularly mindful of the enormous sacrifices made by our fellow citizens over the past two 
years.  The image of staff within the Department celebrating has caused confusion and anger 
among our population, who consistently abided by extensive public health rules over a pro-
longed period.  In the review, I acknowledge the hurt caused and reputational damage done.  I 
assure the committee that the Department deeply regrets the incident.

The review outlines the workplace arrangements, public health advice and statutory rules in 
place on the day of 17 June 2020; the circumstances under which staff were present in Iveagh 
House; the nature of the work that required on-site presence; the circumstances whereby staff 
gathered in the UN unit of Iveagh House following the result of the vote; and relevant timelines.  
The relevant statutory regulations in place at the time were examined, as were public health and 
internal guidance.

Members will be aware of the detailed description contained in the review of events leading 
up to the result of the vote, including the efforts made to ensure that staff complied with public 
health guidance throughout the day.  Staff watched the announcement in a large open plan office 
space in Iveagh House.  The result came through at 9.10 p.m. and staff came together briefly to 
celebrate the outcome.  The incident was captured in the photograph taken by the then Secretary 
General.  Thereafter, the group dispersed.  Some returned to their desks to continue work, some 
watched a press conference from Government Buildings, some stood in small groups discuss-
ing the outcome and others prepared to leave.  The Minister has provided the committee with a 
detailed account of his attendance in Iveagh House on that date.  The review team received no 
evidence that public health guidance was breached during his presence in the UN policy unit to 
thank staff for their work.

Based on meetings with staff, and an examination of substantial amounts of documentary 
evidence annexed, six conclusions were reached.  First, staff working in Iveagh House on 17 
June 2020, many of whom had come to the office prepared to work through that night, were 
conducting essential business on behalf of the Department relating to Ireland’s campaign to se-
cure a seat on the UN Security Council.  Second, no event was planned to celebrate the success 
of Ireland’s election.  Rather, planning was focused on the work that would have been required 
that evening, overnight and the next day if Ireland had not been successful in the first round 
of voting.  Third, extensive measures were taken to facilitate compliance with Covid guidance 
in advance of 17 June.  Fourth, in the hours leading up to the announcement of the vote result, 
public health guidance was observed.  Fifth, there was a serious breach of social distancing 
guidance in the period immediately following the outcome of the vote, lasting approximately 
one minute, when staff came together, many with glasses of alcohol in their hands, for a pho-
tograph.  Sixth, in the period following the photograph, those present dispersed into a range of 
activities, during which some minor breaches of guidance may have occurred.

I concluded that the then Secretary General was largely responsible for facilitating the social 
distancing breach and I requested that he make a donation to charity in the amount of €2,000.  
I also asked the three other management board level officers present in the photograph to make 
a similar donation in the amount of €1,000.  They did not actively facilitate the breach of guid-
ance but could, as senior managers, have tried to prevent its occurrence.  Each of the officials 
concerned agreed make the donation as requested.
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In preparing this review, I was conscious of the need for care in making judgments on the 
behaviour of others with the hindsight of 19 months.  I am conscious that sometimes, in public 
controversies, assumptions can be made without due regard to the full facts.  I am satisfied that 
the review provides an accurate account of what happened on 17 June.

My predecessor as Secretary General has been the subject of considerable public attention 
over the past month.  I assure the committee that he sincerely regrets his actions.  The incident, 
as captured in the photograph, should not detract from the sustained service he has provided to 
the country and the positive contribution he made as Secretary General.  Under his direction, the 
Department became more open, inclusive and responsive to the needs of our citizens.  Through 
a wide range of assignments, notably on Northern Ireland, he made an important contribution 
to peace and well-being on this island.  I do not believe that the incident covered by the review 
devalues the achievement of our election to the Security Council.  That remains a remarkable 
accomplishment by a small group of dedicated public servants.

I can understand how the photograph from that night could suggest that the Department 
was tone deaf to the difficulties facing a public doing their level best to comply with official 
guidance.  However, I assure the committee that the image certainly does not reflect the values 
and commitment of those pictured or of the wider Department.  The staff of the Department of 
Foreign Affairs are fully committed to delivering the best possible service to this country and 
its people and we have a strong track record of doing so.  Our people are today serving in more 
dangerous and challenging locations than ever before.  Whether we serve at home or abroad, 
our teams will continue to advance Irish interests and values, deal with the impact of Brexit 
and uncertainty in Northern Ireland, provide the best possible passport and consular service and 
manage one of the most effective development assistance programmes in the world.  I thank 
members for their attention.

Chairman: I thank the Secretary General.  As our time is limited, I ask members to confine 
their remarks, where possible, to questions.  There has been significant public and media com-
mentary on this issue over the last couple of months.  Many issues are not in dispute.  We have 
a report from the Secretary General that has established the facts.  We are dealing with facts 
rather than speculation.  Therefore, I ask members to confine their remarks and questions to the 
Secretary General and the Minister, both of whom offered to come here this afternoon for the 
purposes of concluding all debate on this issue and drawing a line under it.

Deputy  John Brady: I have a series of questions for the Minister and then for the Secretary 
General.  Who informed the Minister of the tweet with the photo of the then Secretary General, 
Mr. Burgess, and the other staff members?  Perhaps the Minister could answer the questions as 
we go along.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I was informed by a member of my political staff late that eve-
ning.  I was told a photograph had been tweeted out of a group of civil servants celebrating the 
win in Iveagh House.  That was late that evening.

Deputy  John Brady: Does the Minister wish to name that person?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I would rather not.  I do not think it makes any difference.  It was 
a member of my own team.

Deputy  John Brady: Was it an adviser?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: It was an adviser, yes.
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Deputy  John Brady: Why does the Minister think the individual in question felt com-
pelled to raise the issue with him?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I think it was seen as a mistake that should not have happened.  
That mistake was subsequently acknowledged by the Secretary General himself, who took the 
photograph down from social media late that evening.

Deputy  John Brady: The Minister’s adviser saw it as a serious breach of Covid restrictions 
and raised it.

Chairman: With respect, Deputy Brady, that is speculative question.

Deputy  John Brady: Did the Minister see the tweet before it was deleted?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I saw the photograph on a phone and, to be honest with the 
Deputy, I did not take much notice of it.  The following morning, I was told that is had been 
deleted and the mistake had been acknowledged, and I left the issue at that.

Deputy  John Brady: The Minister saw what could have been the tweet while it was still 
live on Twitter.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I cannot remember the exact time I saw it but it was after I had 
gone back to my office when we were planning for the following day.  That, along with a whole 
range of other things, was mentioned to me.  The following morning, I was told that it had been 
taken down and the mistake had been acknowledged.

Deputy  John Brady: Did the Minister instruct the Secretary General to take the tweet 
down?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: No.

Deputy  John Brady: Did the Minister instruct someone to instruct the Secretary General 
to take it down?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I did not.

Deputy  John Brady: You did not.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: No.

Deputy  John Brady: Did the Minister’s adviser instruct the Secretary General to take it 
down?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: No, they did not.

Deputy  John Brady: Does the Minister know who instructed him to take it down?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: My understanding is that there was an interaction on social me-
dia.  The mistake was raised with the Secretary General.  He acknowledged that the Department 
had let its guard down and that it should not have happened in terms of the crowding together.  
He subsequently took it down.  I think it was after midnight.

Deputy  John Brady: The Minister said in his opening statement that he accepts he should 
have formally raised the matter with the then Secretary General, Mr. Niall Burgess.  When did 
the Minister speak to Mr. Burgess about this incident or did he speak to him in any capacity?
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Deputy  Simon Coveney: I did not speak to him.

Deputy  John Brady: He did not speak to him at all.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: Not about this issue, no.  The reason for that was that literally 
the following day this issue was seen as a careless mistake and the agenda moved on.  Nobody 
raised this issue with me in the Department.  Nobody raised it with me outside of the Depart-
ment until about-----

Deputy  John Brady: The Minister’s political adviser notified him that they had serious 
concerns-----

Chairman: With respect, Deputy Brady, that has already been covered.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: That is not what I said.

Deputy  John Brady: The Minister did not feel the need to raise it in any capacity with the 
Secretary General.  I find that bizarre.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: Like I said, having read a report and looked at public concern and 
anger with regard to that image and what it represented, of course now, 19 months later, with 
the benefit of hindsight, it would have been appropriate for me to have raised it directly with the 
Secretary General to understand the background to it and how it happened.  I had the kind of 
relationship with my Secretary General in which I trusted him.  This was a workplace incident.  
I was not there.  I had not been involved in it.

Deputy  John Brady: Clearly, the Minister was wrong in that assessment.  Has he deleted 
any texts or other communications in relation to this incident?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: No.

Deputy  John Brady: Okay.  I welcome the swift appointment of an external review of the 
alleged party and alleged Covid restriction breaches in McKee Barracks in June 2020, which 
the Minister initiated, but it seems to be double standards-----

Chairman: I am not going to allow questions on that.

Deputy  John Brady: I am not asking any questions.  I am just saying-----

Chairman: I will not take any reference to that.

Deputy  John Brady: It seems there are double standards in the Minister’s perception of 
accountability and transparency.  Does the Minister believe that the deputy Chief Whip of his 
party-----

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I am to deal with it.

Chairman: No.  I am going to-----

Deputy  John Brady: I made no allegations.  I said “alleged”.

Chairman: Deputy Brady, please.  You have made allegations directly against the Minister 
in a way that is fundamentally unfair.  Members have been publicly asking questions on this 
issue of June 2020.
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Deputy  John Brady: I am entitled to ask legitimate questions and these are very legitimate 
questions.

Chairman: You are not allowed to entitled to-----

Deputy  John Brady: They may be a little bit uncomfortable for some but they are legiti-
mate questions.

Chairman: -----stray beyond the agenda.  Members of this committee have been making 
public commentary in the media and the Chamber.  They have been requesting that we have a 
hearing with the Minister and that he and the Secretary General be called before this committee 
to deal with the issue of June 2020.  We are now doing that.  We have had the full co-operation 
of the Secretary General.  We have had a report, which is comprehensive.  The Minister is pres-
ent.  Deputy Brady now wishes to refer to a completely different issue.  I am not going to allow 
it.

Deputy  John Brady: I am making a comparison between the perception of-----

Chairman: I will not allow such comparison.

Deputy  John Brady: -----the Minister’s accountability and transparency in terms of what 
he initiated in one case and the process he initiated in this case - an internal review of serious 
Covid breaches.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: Chair, I am happy to answer that question.

Deputy  John Brady: If I could just finish the question without any attempt to censor, does 
the Minister believe-----

Chairman: There is absolutely no question of censoring but there is a question that we stick 
to the agenda.

Deputy  John Brady: I am doing that, Chair, despite attempts to-----

Chairman: I am asking you to do it and not to depart from the agenda because I will not 
tolerate it.

Deputy  John Brady: I am sticking strongly to it.

Chairman: Thank you.

Deputy  John Brady: Does the Minister believe that the deputy Chief Whip of his party, 
Deputy Brendan Griffin, and the Minister for State, Deputy Anne Rabbitte, were wrong when 
they stated they believed there should be a full independent inquiry into the events in question?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I believe that we have acted appropriately.  I believe the appro-
priate person to undertake this review was the Accounting Officer of the Department, who is 
responsible for the staff of the Department and workplace issues.  Having the Secretary General 
and the HR team undertake this report, completely independent of me, was the appropriate 
course of action.  The issue to which the Deputy refers relating to an incident in McKee Bar-
racks is an entirely different one.

Chairman: I ask the Minister not to make reference to that, please.  We are dealing with the 
issue we have been requested to deal with, namely, the issue of the evening of 17 June 2020.  I 
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call on Deputy Brady to ask a final question and then I will move on to Senator Ardagh.

Deputy  John Brady: This is about the double standards in terms of transparency and I am 
asking about the Minister’s rationale.  To finish-----

Deputy  Simon Coveney: There are no double standards.

Chairman: We will not have any reflection cast on the Minister, Deputy.

Deputy  John Brady: I will conclude with the Minister before I address the Secretary Gen-
eral.

Chairman: Please conclude.

Deputy  John Brady: Does the Minister acknowledge that he was wrong in his attempts to 
cover up, in my mind-----

Chairman: That is an unfair question.  That is an unfair aspersion on the Minister.

Deputy  John Brady: -----what was a serious breach of Covid restrictions within his De-
partment?  The deletion of the tweet and the fact that the Minister did not raise it with the then 
Secretary General was, in my view, a cover-up.  What made him after 18 months move to have 
an internal review?

Chairman: That is an unfair slur on the Minister, which I will not accept, Deputy Brady.

Deputy  John Brady: Does the Minister agree that he was wrong?

Chairman: I will not accept that there was a cover-up.  I ask the Deputy to withdraw his 
allegation of a cover-up.  We have a report and we have the Secretary General present to deal 
with any aspects of the report that require questioning.  Making allegations of a cover-up and 
trying to move the story on is unfair.

Deputy  John Brady: It is not an allegation.  I am entitled to my views on the deletion of 
the tweet, the failure to raise the matter in any capacity with the then Secretary General and the 
decision to only initiate an internal review after this perceived cover-up was exposed some 18 
months after the event.

Chairman: We already heard from the Minister in that regard.  We know the answer to that 
question.

Deputy  John Brady: Does the Minister believe he was wrong in trying to keep the lid on 
this issue until the media got hold of it?

Chairman: We know the answer to that question.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: There was no cover-up here.  The Deputy has a detailed report 
with a lot of documentation to back up its conclusions.  Everybody who was involved in the 
incident concerned was interviewed and we are here to answer questions on it.  There was ab-
solutely no cover-up.  This was a very public mistake.  Thousands of people follow the former 
Secretary General on Twitter.  This was a very public mistake and there was a very public ac-
knowledgement of that mistake.

Deputy  John Brady: I have some brief questions for the current Secretary General.
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Chairman: On the report.

Deputy  John Brady: Yes.  Who paid for the alcohol that was consumed at the party?

Mr. Joe Hackett: The alcohol was provided from a store that the then Secretary General 
kept in his office and paid for himself.

Chairman: I remind Deputy Brady that there is no evidence of any party here.

Deputy  John Brady: May I ask some questions without consistent interruptions?

Chairman: No.  If the Deputy sticks to the facts, there will be no need for any interruption.  
Please stick to the facts.

Deputy  John Brady: Is there a payment record for the champagne or whatever beverage 
was consumed on the night?

Mr. Joe Hackett: No, because he kept it in his office over a period of weeks.  There is no 
payment record because it was personal-----

Deputy  John Brady: Did Mr. Hackett seek information to establish when it was pur-
chased, as part of his review?

Mr. Joe Hackett: No, it was his personal supply so we did not seek that.

Deputy  John Brady: What was Mr. Burgess doing with alcohol, specifically three bottles 
of champagne or whatever it was, in a drawer in his workplace?

Mr. Joe Hackett: He indicated that he kept it there for use as gifts or to mark occasions 
such as retirements and that when it was safe to do so outside of Covid.  That is why it was-----

Deputy  John Brady: Is that considered normal practice?

Mr. Joe Hackett: It is considered something he did.

Deputy  John Brady: Is the Mr. Hackett furnished with a Visa card or anything like that?  
Was his predecessor, Mr. Burgess?

Mr. Joe Hackett: No, there are official cards that are provided for use by the Department 
but nothing like that would have been put on them.

Deputy  John Brady: Nothing like that would have been put on them.  Any transactions 
like that come under the freedom of information process.  I am sure any transactions from that 
period could be furnished to the committee if it requested them.

Mr. Joe Hackett: Absolutely.

Deputy  John Brady: Okay.  Does it arise that the Secretary General would be reimbursed 
from State coffers for the purchase of gifts such as this or alcohol for visiting guests?

Mr. Joe Hackett: Not if he had personal things that belonged to him and which he provided 
himself.  There would be no question of reimbursement.

Deputy  John Brady: These were personal things.  Was the intention to give them to visi-
tors or dignitaries or what was the purpose?
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Mr. Joe Hackett: The scope of this review was confined to the events of 17 June so we did 
not explore those kinds of questions.

Deputy  John Brady: That was not explored.  What protocols are in place governing the 
purchase and offering of gifts such as these to visitors to the Department?

Mr. Joe Hackett: There is official guidance on the provision of official gifts as part of of-
ficial visits.  What a person might decide to do in terms of his own provision of gifts is a matter 
for that individual.  The Deputy is right that there would not be official guidance around that.

Deputy  John Brady: There would not be official guidance for the Secretary General hand-
ing out gifts within the Department to visiting dignitaries or people like that.  There would not 
be guidance for him on how to act as an individual.

Mr. Joe Hackett: No, there are two issues.  There is official guidance on the provision of 
official gifts as part of official events.  What an individual decides to do with his or her own 
money is entirely a matter for that individual.

Deputy  John Brady: Mr. Hackett thinks it might be acceptable for the Secretary General 
within the Department to be handing out gifts to visiting dignitaries in his own capacity with-
out-----

Chairman: We are straying from the report.  There is absolutely no suggestion of any event 
such as that being implied by the Deputy.

Deputy  John Brady: I am trying to establish the purpose of the alcohol within the Depart-
ment.

Chairman: It is in the report.

Deputy  John Brady: That is a version.  The Secretary General has informed us that he was 
solely looking at the date in question.  He did not establish when the alcohol was purchased, 
why it was purchased or anything like that.  I suggest that the alcohol was purchased specifi-
cally for the event on the night.  That is what I am trying to establish.  Is the Secretary General 
of the Department allowing gifts like this to be handed out willy-nilly without any records being 
kept as to whom they are given to and what perceived preferential treatment is being given?  
I find that bizarre.  Mr. Hackett is saying that no records are kept of any gifts like this being 
handed out by the Secretary General.

Mr. Joe Hackett: I am saying there is a record and protocol around the provision of official 
gifts but what a private individual decides to do is his or her own business.  There is no official 
guidance around that.  The review found no evidence that the alcohol referred to by the Deputy 
was purchased specifically for use on 17 June.

Deputy  John Brady: Does the Minister think it acceptable that the Secretary General with-
in his Department would or could be handing out gifts in his own personal capacity to visiting 
dignitaries, with no checks or balances or without protocol being in place to record it?  I find it 
bizarre and, to be honest, I do not believe it was the position on the day in question.  Does the 
Minister believe that it would be an acceptable practice?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: The Secretary General has dealt with the matter.

Deputy  John Brady: I asked the Minister if he believed it is an acceptable practice for the 
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Secretary General of his Department to be able to keep stores or supplies of alcohol, such as 
champagne or whatever, in a drawer in his office that he could hand out to visiting dignitaries 
without any checks, balances or protocols because he had purchased it himself.  I do not think 
that is an acceptable practice.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: My understanding, from reading the report, is that these bottles 
were purchased privately and were for private use.  There was not any suggestion they were 
being given as official gifts to anybody.

Deputy  John Brady: The evidence states they were being kept as gifts.  Now the Minister 
is saying they were for personal consumption.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I did not say that.

Deputy  John Brady: What did the Minister say?  Was it for personal use?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: That is a question for the person who was Secretary General at 
the time.  From reading the report and the evidence given that resulted in the conclusions of 
the report, my understanding is that the bottles of wine involved were purchased privately and 
were used privately.

Senator  Catherine Ardagh: I thank the Minister and the Secretary General for coming 
before us in such a timely manner.  I know we requested the meeting.  We thought it would be 
the end of February by the time we got to meet the witnesses and get to discuss the report.  The 
co-operation shown to the committee should be acknowledged.

Winning a seat on the UN Security Council was clearly amazing, and I would hate to see any 
deflection from that achievement.  The Department has done an amazing job in that respect and 
put some serious work into winning that seat by putting time into building relations.  We should 
not take away from that.  As a committee we are always very proud to say we have a seat on the 
UN Security Council and when we meet any group before us, we acknowledge that we have the 
seat.  If there is anything the committee can do to liaise with our representative, we want to do 
that and we use that line and link with our representative on a daily basis.

One aspect of the report shocked me, specifically that a person could donate €2,000 and 
receive absolution.  Many people during the Covid-19 pandemic had loved ones pass away and 
they did not have people at the funerals.  Loved ones sat outside churches because they could 
not go inside because of restrictions.  If any of those people could have paid €2,000 to have 
a normal funeral, they would have done so.  That sticks in the craw of many people.  I do not 
know how the figure came to pass and whether it was a contribution or fine.  If senior manag-
ers had refused to pay it would there have been a sanction?  That is a question for the current 
Secretary General.  Is there precedent in the Department to fine or sanction senior members of 
the Department for breaches of internal employment regulations?

I do not mean to sound glib but when the Minister addressed the group, was anybody drink-
ing alcohol?  The report indicates that the people grouped together for a moment for the picture 
and then dispersed immediately.  When the Minister addressed them, were the people in a 
group?  Did he address a dispersed group?  I do not want to put words in the Minister’s mouth.  
Did he have a drink to celebrate?

Chairman: With respect, we are under pretty strict time pressure because of earlier contri-
butions.  We have the Senator’s questions but I will take a question from Deputy Stanton before 
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going back to the Minister and the Secretary General.

Deputy  David Stanton: Will the Secretary General talk us through some of the detail of 
the evidence he uncovered?  There is much in the report so will he give us an overview?  How 
long did the group stay together for the photograph?  Has Mr. Hackett ascertained that?  I know 
he has said that some small numbers of people may have stayed together for short periods 
afterwards.  How long was the group together in order for the photograph to be taken?  Will 
Mr. Hackett talk us through the evidence in the report for a few minutes in order to give us an 
overview of what he found?

Chairman: Senator Craughwell has a few direct questions.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: I have some direct questions.

Chairman: If there is one about the Garda Síochána, it will not be taken.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: I did not intend asking anything about the Garda Sío-
chána.  On 24 August, it was reported in The Irish Times that the Minister, in an interview with 
96FM in Cork, said that it does not matter if one is a Commissioner, a President, a Taoiseach, a 
Minister or anybody else for that matter, and the same rules should apply to everybody in Ire-
land.  The Minister went on to say, “The idea that certain politicians see themselves as different 
or that the rules don’t apply to them...”.  I will not continue reading it but, clearly, by August, 
the Minister saw any breach of Covid as a most serious breach and that nobody was above the 
law.  Does the Minister agree with that?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I assume the Senator’s comment was in response to the golfgate 
issue, when I was trying to explain that no one is above the law.  That is the context in which 
I made those comments.  This report says very clearly that there was no breach of the law or 
regulations, or certainly no evidence to suggest that.  There was a breach of social distancing 
guidelines which was not acceptable, should not have happened and has been acknowledged 
and apologised for.

With regard to Senator Ardagh’s question, I did not take a drink on the night.  When I came 
back to the Department, I called through the big open plan area one comes in the back of De-
partment and walks through.  That is where the UN team were.  I called in.  Some people were 
packing up to go home.  It was quite late at that stage.  It was approximately 10.15 p.m.  Some 
people had gone home and others were at their desks tidying up.  Some people were on the 
phone and others were on computers.  It was a work space.  That is what I saw when I came in.

Those are the two questions I was asked.  I will leave the €2,000 issue to the Secretary 
General.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: With regard to the United Nations Security Council, the 
Minister’s statement starts off referring to 15 years work with a two-year intensive workload.  
Will the Minister accept we have had the United Nations Security Council every 20 years since 
1960?  The mathematics suggest we would have had it anyway, if not this year, then next year.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: With respect, that is not a fair reflection on what was achieved.  
We were competing for two places in a group of three countries.  The other two countries 
against which we were competing were Norway and Canada, two of the most popular countries 
in the UN.  Certainly, Ireland getting through on the first round, just, was not expected by most 
people.  It is true we have been on the Security Council before.  Every 20 years, as it happens, 
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we have successfully managed to get on the Security Council but this was seen as one of the 
most difficult votes Ireland has every faced in a UN vote.  It is not an exaggeration to say that.

We had been successful against Italy, previously, which was a difficult contest.  We have 
been elected uncontested at different times, as well, but this was certainly seen as a significant 
task to be in the top 2 in that group of three.  That is why people were so up for it in the Depart-
ment.  That is why they were there expecting to work through the night.  That is also why, even 
though it is not a justification, of course, people celebrated in the way they did.  They were both 
relieved and extremely happy about what had happened and, unfortunately, let their guard down 
in that space.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: With regard to the Secretary General’s comprehensive 
report, he made the point in today’s statement that stafff working in Iveagh House on 17 June 
2020, many of whom had come to the office prepared to work through that night, were conduct-
ing essential business.  By the way, it was unfair to ask the Secretary General to investigate his 
own staff and compile a report, having just taken over the Department.  One of the staff had a 
child with them.  Is it normal for staff to bring a child with them for essential work?

Mr. Joe Hackett: Two people there that evening were on maternity leave.  Both of them 
were essential members of the UN policy team and essential to our ultimate success.  One of 
them had just gone on maternity leave and had the baby three days afterwards.  One of them had 
recently had a baby and was nursing.  That is why the baby was there.  Both of them were essen-
tial members of that team.  They came in of their own volition.  They were not asked to come in.

However, it is an important part of our maternity policy in the Department that women on 
maternity leave can remain connected with the workplace.  That, in turn, is an essential part of 
our gender equality strategy.  As we acknowledge in the report, I cannot sit here and say that 
their presence there that evening was for an essential purpose.  I acknowledge that but, equally, 
I was not prepared to make a negative finding about them.  It would have been detrimental to 
what we are trying to do in gender equality in the Department and a disservice to two outstand-
ing people who were vital to our success.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: It was most unfortunate there was a child there on the 
night, but anyway.  Is the Secretary General familiar with this document?

Mr. Joe Hackett: I cannot see that document.

Chairman: In fairness, Senator Craughwell is-----

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: It is the Civil Service disciplinary code.

Mr. Joe Hackett: I am.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: The first paragraph of the disciplinary code states:

The purpose of this Code is to set out the arrangements for dealing with disciplinary 
matters in the Civil Service. It is also to ensure that all civil servants are aware that if there 
is [any] failure to adhere to the required standards of conduct, work performance and atten-
dance, the disciplinary procedure [of] this Circular will apply.

Clearly, the breach that took place was detrimental to the Civil Service code.  It brought the 
Department into disrepute.  It brought several members of the Department into disrepute yet 
the Secretary General did not invoke the disciplinary procedure.  Why?
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Mr. Joe Hackett: That is a fair question.  I thought quite a lot about that during the process.  
I decided not to go down that route for a variety of reasons.  Had we done so, it would have 
been, necessarily, entirely confidential.  We would not have been able to disclose the outcome 
of that.  We would not have been able to respond to the public concern that had been created.  
We would not have been able, on legal advice, to publish the report we published because it 
could have been prejudicial.  I made a judgment call that, given the level of attention this had 
got, there was a need to address that public concern quickly in an open way.  I felt that going 
down the route of the disciplinary code would not have achieved that.  That was my call and 
that is the reason.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: Does Mr. Hackett accept that junior members of staff who 
will at some stage or who have in the past been subjected to the disciplinary procedures will feel 
there is one law for them and another for senior members of staff?

Mr. Joe Hackett: I hope not.  I do not know what they feel.  They would probably see the 
most senior member of the Department, the Secretary General, held to a high standard here.  
I can explain, in response to Senator Ardagh, the question around the donation.  They would 
have seen the level of public scrutiny on the then Secretary General over the past six weeks and 
considered he paid a considerable cost for his error of judgment and mistake.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: The Secretary General was promoted.  Who recommend-
ed his promotion or move to an ambassador’s role?

Chairman: That is not an issue for this committee.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: It is.

Chairman: It is not.  It is an issue the answer to which Senator Craughwell was told before 
at this committee, and which he should know.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: On a different issue, but it is important, because we are 
talking about issues-----

Chairman: It might be important but it is not one for this committee or for answer today.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: I will take the Chairman’s ruling and withdraw the ques-
tion.  I have one final point I need to address which is the news that broke today regarding 
another incident which is-----

Chairman: That is not for discussion now, either.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: I appreciate the Chairman will say he will not allow it 
for discussion today.  However, by not allowing it for discussion today, he forces me and other 
members of the committee to now request the Minister to return to deal with that issue.  I would 
much rather that we cleared it out of the way today because it is a serious matter.

Chairman: We will not deal with it now because Senator Craughwell has been to the fore in 
requesting that this committee examine the circumstances surrounding the events of the evening 
of 17 June.  Now, as indeed Deputy Brady has tried earlier, he wishes to shift the ground-----

Deputy  John Brady: That is not accurate comment.  I did not try to shift any ground.

Chairman: -----in order to question the Minister.
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Deputy  John Brady: Those are the Chairman’s personal views.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: I will not question the authority, at all.  I just want to 
make the point that this is a matter that hangs over us from another Department.

Chairman: It is being dealt with.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: It will have to be dealt with in this committee.  That is 
unfortunate for the Minister because I know he would want to deal with it today.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: To be helpful to the committee on that issue, I will be more than 
happy to come back and deal with that but there are many issues on which I hope to be able to 
deal with this committee in the context of the reform of the Defence Forces and the defence 
sector as a whole.  Tomorrow, we will publish probably the most significant document relating 
to defence that has been published for 50 years in respect of reform and change in the Defence 
Forces structure, culture, legislative underpinning and a whole range of things.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: I appreciate that.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I will be happy to deal as well with any individual incidents, of 
course, that are subject to review.  I caution the Senator that judicial proceedings are also under 
way-----

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: That is my whole point to the Minister.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: ----- on an issue and a potential court martial and people need to 
be careful in that regard.

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: We may be at risk of double jeopardy because of what the 
Minister has done in the past number of days.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: That is not true-----

Senator  Gerard P. Craughwell: There is no point in discussing it this evening and it could 
well be that we will be discussing it for some time.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: -----and we have been careful to ensure that is not the case.

Deputy  David Stanton: I have asked some questions to which I await reply.

Chairman: I ask that Deputy Stanton’s questions be replied to, please, by the Secretary 
General and the Minister.  I am also very keen to allow Deputy Gannon contribute as I am also 
watching the clock.

Senator  Catherine Ardagh: There are also my questions on the fines.

Chairman: Indeed.  I call Mr. Hackett.

Mr. Joe Hackett: Replying to the Senator on the donations issue, I made a judgement call 
that the figures of €2,000 and €1,000 were commensurate with the level of public concern that 
was raised.  It was not a fine.  I do not have the statutory authority to impose fines but it was a 
request to make a charitable donation as a reflection of the damage done and concern raised.  In 
coming to that figure, I was very mindful of the range of fines that were being paid, albeit for 
statutory offences rather than breaches of guidance.  For illustrative purposes, according to the 
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latest figures from An Garda Síochána and the Department of Justice, 57 fines were issued in 
2020, the maximum of which was for €500.  Some people may think that €2,000 was too much 
and some may think it was too little but it was my judgement call that this figure was commen-
surate and that was the reason I went down that route.

Senator  Catherine Ardagh: On the second part of my question, is there any general prec-
edent for fines?

Mr. Joe Hackett: Again, I restate that as Secretary General I do not have the authority to 
impose fines, as such.  That would be a matter for law enforcement authorities.  I am not aware 
of a precedent in this situation.  The level of scrutiny in response to this has been somewhat 
unprecedented so I believe it was legitimate to take measures like this in response to an unusual 
situation.

The Senator had two questions there, one of which was how long was the breach.  As we 
indicated in the review, from all accounts of people who were there, it lasted approximately 
one minute.  The Senator’s first question was on the outline of the report and the review.  The 
structure of it was focused around four pillars: the workplace arrangements; public health ad-
vice and rules in place at the time; the circumstances whereby staff were present that day, and 
the nature of the work that was being done and was anticipated would be done; and finally, the 
circumstances in which the staff gathered following the result.  There were then six conclusions 
and I have gone into some detail on these in the review but also in the opening statement.

Deputy  David Stanton: My apologies, Chairman, but I would like to come back in here, 
please.  The Secretary General said that in this incident people came together for one minute.  
How did he ascertain that?  Did he get this from a number of people independently or how did 
he come up with that figure?

Mr. Joe Hackett: We asked everyone who was involved in that photograph how long it 
took.  When I say one minute, it is the breach of social distancing guidance that occurred from 
the time that people came together to the time that they dispersed again out of that photograph.  
Some had that figure at much less than one minute and some had it at slightly more.  It seemed 
reasonable to us that if we think of our own daily lives, in how long it takes to take a picture, 
that was the nature of the breach and that is the figure we agreed on.  There was a great deal of 
consensus among those interviewed that this was the time limit.

Deputy  David Stanton: I thank Mr. Hackett.

Chairman: I thank the Deputy and return now to members’ questions.  The next speakers 
are Deputy Gannon followed by Senators Joe O’Reilly and Wilson, and I am very keen then to 
accommodate Deputy Paul Murphy who has joined us as a visitor.  I call Deputy Gannon.

Deputy  Gary Gannon: I will ask some very direct questions, individually if possible, and 
I will be very quick.  Why were only four of the officials who were present asked to make a 
donation?

Mr. Joe Hackett: This was for a number of reasons.  In the first instance, the former Secre-
tary General was asked to make a donation of €2,000, as outlined in the report, as he was largely 
responsible.  The other three individuals were at management board level and were, therefore, 
senior managers, and I took a decision that they had broad management responsibility for the 
failure that happened.  This is again directly related to the breach that occurred.  The other staff, 
who are largely more junior, were in a situation where the then Secretary General asked them to 
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come together and I did not think that it would be proportionate to ask them to make a donation.

Deputy  Gary Gannon: I was going to ask how the amount of the donations were arrived 
at but Senator Ardagh has done that.

Did Mr. Hackett discuss this donation with the former Secretary General, Mr. Burgess, be-
fore he made the recommendation and did he mention to him that he was going to recommend 
€2,000, in advance of the recommendation being announced?

Mr. Joe Hackett: Yes, because working with our legal team, in terms of natural justice, 
when one includes findings and recommendations on individuals, that extract would be shared 
with them.  That included the particular sanction on them.  I also thought that one of the first 
questions we would be asked would be had they agreed to make the donation.  I felt it was, 
therefore, better to include an answer to that question in the review itself so the answer to that 
question is “Yes”.

Deputy  Gary Gannon: The report outlines that: “The decision to attend Iveagh House 
was discussed and agreed at video conferences with senior managers and as part of the advance 
planning arrangements.”  Why did the review not include details of what occurred during that 
advance planning prior to 17 June 2020?

Mr. Joe Hackett: There are two elements to that.  Records Nos. 8, 28, 40, 37, 39, 53 and 57 
were all released as part of the freedom of information requests that were annexed to the review 
and contain some elements of the advanced planning and some of the efforts that were made 
to comply with social distance guidance.  All the meetings we had said that the director of the 
team and the deputy Secretary General at the time, on a series of videoconferences in the days 
leading up to it, discussed coming in, who would come in and when they would come in.  That 
is touched upon in the review but perhaps we could have gone into it in more detail.

Deputy  Gary Gannon: Why was the Covid-19 safe working group not contacted before 
June 17 if a team of staff was due to be in Iveagh House?

Mr. Joe Hackett: We acknowledge that should have happened, although we say it was an 
administrative oversight.  Keep in mind that the Covid-19 safe working group had only been 
established on 2 June and, in fact, the first communication from it out to divisions was on 16 
June, literally, the day before the event.  It had been established but there was not a high level 
of awareness of it and, crucially, the measures that were taken and that were in place from a 
safe working arrangement point of view would have been ones that the Covid-19 safe working 
group would have recommended.  We, and I certainly felt that it was more an administrative 
mistake than a serious error.

Deputy  Gary Gannon: I am going to admit that my eyebrow did rise a little bit when Mr. 
Hackett said that the sparkling wine or the champagne was in the fridge for private occasions.  
What are the rules in respect of public servants drinking while on campus or in Iveagh House?  
Are there rules in advance of such activity?  I would find it very strange if I walked into my of-
fice and some of my staff were sitting there drinking wine?  What are the rules in that regard?

Mr. Joe Hackett: Like all Departments, there is a code and policy on the misuse of drugs 
and alcohol across the Civil Service and we comply with that.  That does not include guidance 
or rules on the storage and consumption of alcohol on premises and the same applies to all De-
partments.  This is certainly an area that we could look at but it is not there.
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I would stress that there is no culture of widespread consumption of alcohol for personal use 
in the Department.  That is just not my experience and there is quite a different culture in place 
in the Department.  When I think of the culture that is in place in the Department of Foreign Af-
fairs, I think about the people that we have sitting in Kyiv at the moment waiting with Russians 
on the border, people who face death threats in Ethiopia, or the people who helped with the 
consular case in Shanghai.  There is all this talk about the culture in the Department-----

Deputy  Gary Gannon: With the greatest of respect to Mr. Hackett, I intend to stick to 
the date in question.  I understand the great work that is done but we would not be given the 
courtesy to depart from the topic.   We do not doubt for a second the great work the Depart-
ment does.  I did not question whether there is a culture of drinking in the Department but Mr. 
Hackett did evoke the image of champagne sitting in a fridge for a retirement party.  Given that 
this was a review limited to 17 June, is he aware of any other occasions during the period of 
lockdown when that champagne was removed from the fridge for a retirement party or for any 
other occasion and does he think that would be an omission from the report that will, again, 
raise questions?

Mr. Joe Hackett: No, I am not, in response to the specific question the Deputy raises.  As 
is well known since it is in the public domain, there was an official event on 15 July to mark the 
election to the Security Council.  That was held in full compliance with the Covid guidance at 
the time.  That was an official event, however, so the answer to the Deputy’s specific question 
is that I am not aware of any such occasions.

Deputy  Gary Gannon: Did the former Secretary General, Niall Burgess, delete the tweet 
he put out that evening of his own accord or was he advised to do so?  If so, who advised him 
to delete the tweet?

Mr. Joe Hackett: Is that question directed to me?

Deputy  Gary Gannon: It is probably more appropriately directed to the Minister.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: The honest answer to that question is that I do not know.  The de-
letion of the tweet certainly did not arise from an instruction from me or anybody on my team.  
Having looked at the tweet afterwards because of the public interest in it, it looks to me that 
somebody raised the issue with Mr. Burgess on social media and pointed out that the people in 
the photograph were bunched tightly together and that he responded by accepting that they had 
let their guard down and that it should not have happened.  I think the tweet was deleted after 
that.  That is my understanding.  Nobody was leaning on Mr. Burgess, as far as I am aware, to 
delete the tweet.  I presume he realised that a mistake had been made, acknowledged it and took 
the photograph down.

It is important to try to get some perspective on this.  We are looking at this after 19 months 
of Covid restrictions, sacrifice and the things Senator Ardagh rightly outlined such as the strug-
gles many families have faced.  I can understand why people would look at the photograph and 
ask how the incident happened and be angered by it.  All I can say, however, is what happened 
insofar as my involvement that night was concerned.  The incident was mentioned to me not 
as a major issue but as a stupid mistake.  The then Secretary General acknowledged it and the 
agenda moved on.  When the matter was raised again, 18 months later, in the media, legiti-
mately, and there was concern about it, I had to respond to that, obviously.  That is why I asked 
the Secretary General to undertake the report.  Senator Craughwell said he did not think it was 
appropriate for a new Secretary General to be asked to do the report.  If, however, the Senator 
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asks the Secretary General, I think he will say he felt he had an obligation to take it on, given 
the fact that this had happened in the Department, that there was reputational damage associated 
with it and that we needed to address that collectively, as a Department, which is what we have 
tried to do in this report.

Chairman: I call Senator Joe O’Reilly, to be followed by Senator Wilson and Deputy Paul 
Murphy.  We have had a lot of repetition, so I ask the Senators not to ask questions the Secretary 
General and the Minister have already fully answered.

Senator  Joe O’Reilly: I welcome our guests.

Why did the work event take place in an open-plan area?  I presume there was a significance 
to that.  The question has been asked, but will the Secretary General restate that all the social 
distancing issues arose during a few minutes surrounding the taking of a photograph?  Is that 
what he is suggesting?

Because the Minister is sometimes wrongly implicated in this case, will Mr. Hackett or the 
Minister explain to the committee the control structures in the Department, that is, the HR and 
supervision structures?  Where does the Minister’s responsibility for internal staffing matters 
begin and end?  As for the contribution and the mistake, are there any further steps?  There is 
reasonable public anger about this.  There has been admission of an error.  Is there anything 
further the Secretary General or the Minister thinks could be done to give people confidence 
that this is being taken seriously?

I have one final question.  Beyond this mistake, I ask the Secretary General for an update on 
the major areas Ireland has been focusing on during our term on the Security Council.  There 
is less than a year left in our term.  The question of what we have been doing since is relevant 
in the context of a celebration.

Chairman: I come back to the Secretary General and the Minister, starting with the former, 
on the question of the office layout and social distancing and then moving on to the other ques-
tions Senator Joe O’Reilly raised.

Mr. Joe Hackett: The open-plan office is the area where most of the UN policy team was 
normally based.  It was also used because it is a large space.  In non-Covid times it had poten-
tially 152 office spaces, with six further offices along its side.  It was decided, therefore, that that 
was where people should concentrate because of the space it provided specifically to comply 
with social distancing.  As the review makes clear, the serious social distancing breach to which 
we referred was the one minute surrounding the taking of the photograph.  The review also 
points out, however, that after the photograph was taken and as people dispersed, we could not 
rule out the possibility that there were minor breaches of the 2 m rule as people moved around, 
given the nature of the events involved.

As for major policy areas the Department is focused on in a UN context, does the Minister 
wish to comment?

Senator  Joe O’Reilly: I asked about the control structures and HR in the Department be-
cause there is an allegation out there that the Minister should have disciplined the personnel 
involved.  Will the Minister or Mr. Hackett explain the Minister’s authority in that regard?

Mr. Joe Hackett: As for the behaviour of staff, the discipline of staff internally, the way the 
Department is administered and organised under the Public Service Management Act is a mat-
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ter for the Secretary General, not the Minister.  That is why the review focused on the behaviour 
of staff of the Department and why I led on the report and its terms of reference.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: In response to Senator O’Reilly’s comments, while it is of course 
the responsibility of the Secretary General to deal with staffing issues and so on, I do not want 
to suggest that I do not have some responsibility in this regard.  I do.  This is a political issue 
as well as a momentary failing in the form of a breach of guidelines.  That is why I felt it was 
important to have this report and to bring it to the committee.  It is also important to recognise 
that it certainly would have been helpful if I had raised the matter directly with the Secretary 
General at the time.  I did not and I allowed the agenda to move on.  That is what happened.  
There was no issue.  Nobody raised the matter either inside or outside the Department in the 
time following that evening.  I think it would have been helpful if I had addressed the matter 
directly with the Secretary General at the time but I did not do so.  When the matter became one 
of public concern, however, we responded by trying to produce a comprehensive and truthful 
account of what happened.

Chairman: I call on Senator Wilson, to be followed by Deputy Paul Murphy.

Senator  Diarmuid Wilson: I will be brief because almost all the questions have been 
asked and answered.  I welcome the Minister, Deputy Coveney, and Mr. Hackett to the meet-
ing.  During a private meeting at which we discussed this matter, I expressed my belief that the 
investigation should have been carried out by an independent person.  However, I accept Mr. 
Hackett’s report and his findings.

I have just one question.  Deputy Gannon asked a similar question but I wish to address 
mine directly to both Mr. Hackett and the Minister.  Are they aware of any other social gather-
ings having taken place within the Department of Foreign Affairs during lockdown?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: This was not a social gathering, and the report is quite clear on 
that.  These were people at work in their workplace who then breached guidelines for about 
a minute because they posed for a photograph celebrating a big event in the Department that 
evening.  It is important to make the distinction between a social gathering and a workplace 
incident.  The answer to the Senator’s question is that I am not aware of any social gathering 
that took place in the Department and that was contrary to restrictions through the Covid period.

Mr. Joe Hackett: Absolutely.  Any official events that may have taken place over recent 
years would have been fully compliant with the Covid guidance in place at the time.

Senator  Diarmuid Wilson: What about unofficial events?

Mr. Joe Hackett: I am not aware of any.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: I will be brief.  I thank the officials for coming before the commit-
tee.  I read the review with interest.  The essential findings are that the regulations relating to 
the organising of social gatherings were not breached but that social distance guidelines were 
breached for a minute.   Will Mr. Hackett outline what precisely was the breach of the social 
distancing guidelines?

Mr. Joe Hackett: The guidance specifically was around the need to maintain 2 m social 
distancing.  The serious breach that we identified was the failure to do that particularly around 
the time that the photograph was being taken.
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Deputy  Paul Murphy: Therefore if, in the photograph, the people had been drinking 
champagne but had been 2 m or more apart, there would have been no breach of any guidelines 
whatever, in Mr. Hackett’s opinion?

Mr. Joe Hackett: It would have caused reputational damage and would still have been a 
serious mistake.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: But, to repeat the question, if they had been standing 2 m apart 
from the point of view of Mr. Hackett’s report, then there would have been no breach of any 
guidance or regulations?

Mr. Joe Hackett: That is hypothetical so I will not get drawn on that.  They were stand-
ing within 2 m, they were drinking alcohol, there was a photograph and the photograph was 
tweeted.  All of those things were wrong.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: But just to confirm Mr. Hackett is saying that the precise breach of 
social distancing guidelines that took place was the fact that they were less than 2 m apart from 
each other.

Chairman: I think that is what the Secretary General said.

Mr. Joe Hackett: No, that is fair enough.  It is the nature of the serious offence that we 
identified and described, yes.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Okay.  Let us move on.  The report puts a lot of weight on the idea 
that this was not an organised social gathering because if it was it would have been a breach of 
the regulations and a criminal matter.  Was it a spontaneous event?

Mr. Joe Hackett: First, it was not an event.  It was people at work, doing work and in re-
sponse to work they were clearly happy and pleased when the outcome occurred; the decision 
to convene a photograph and bunch people up together was spontaneous in my opinion, yes.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: It was spontaneous.  Mr. Hackett referred earlier to two people who 
were present.  To be clear, certainly from me, there is no criticism of those people whatever.  
However, how did they know to be present?  I think Mr. Hackett has accepted that they were 
not working on that day.  How did they know to be present at the moment when the champagne 
corks popped and the picture was taken?

Mr. Joe Hackett: As I said, they had been important members of the team.  One had just 
gone on maternity leave relatively recently.  They were clearly aware of what time the result 
was expected to come through because it was public knowledge.  They had a lot of information 
and expertise that they wanted to share - I think that they are to be admired for that - therefore 
they made a decision to come in themselves around that time.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Did they come in to do work?

Mr. Joe Hackett: They came in to be present when it was announced.  According to their 
own testimony, they came in to offer whatever advice that they could if a second round was 
necessary.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: The review says that the review team is satisfied that the vast ma-
jority of those present attended the workplace in order to perform essential work-related tasks.
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Mr. Joe Hackett: Correct.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: So were they part of the vast majority or were they part of the mi-
nority.

Mr. Joe Hackett: That is why it says “the vast majority”.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: So they were not there to do essential work-related tasks.

Mr. Joe Hackett: That is correct.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: So they were there to celebrate the victory of the UN Security 
Council place.

Mr. Joe Hackett: As I said earlier, to be honest, I am uncomfortable discussing two women 
on maternity leave coming in on -----

Deputy  Paul Murphy: To be clear I am not making any criticism of them whatever but it 
goes to whether the event was organised or not organised.

Mr. Joe Hackett: I think it has been a difficult month for them with the carry through like 
this.  They are far more junior than many others in that picture.  My own personal view is that 
having them interrogated or implicitly interrogated in this way calls into question some of the 
fundamental principles of our maternity policy and what we are trying to achieve.  I found that 
a difficult part of the review and I find it difficult to have this conversation because of the posi-
tion that it puts them in.

Chairman: Deputy Murphy was here at the start of our meeting and I am sure that he is a 
member of other committees of the House.  I remind him of the the long-standing parliamentary 
practice that members should not comment on, criticise or make charges against any person 
outside the House, or any official by name or in such a way as to make them in any way iden-
tifiable.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: No problem.

Chairman: The Deputy has heard what the Secretary General has said.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: No problem.

Chairman: I would ask him to accept his bona fides on the matter.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: That is no problem and to be clear, as I stated at the start, I have no 
criticism of the women whatever and have no criticism of bringing children into the workplace 
and so on.  I do not have any of those criticisms whatever.

Chairman: Okay.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: An email from the Secretary General was sent at 5.16 p.m. on 16 
June saying: “following our call earlier, SG happy to watch the result down the back of the po-
litical open plan ‘in the thick of it’.”

Is it accurate to say the photograph was taken at the back of the political open plan?

Mr. Joe Hackett: That is correct.
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Deputy  Paul Murphy: So how can Mr. Hackett maintain that the event was spontaneous 
when an email referring to it was sent the day before?

Mr. Joe Hackett: My interpretation of that email is that he was indicating that when the 
results were coming through and in the aftermath, he intended joining staff for that part of the 
working day.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Mr. Hackett maintains that the event was not organised but that it 
was spontaneous despite the fact taht there were people there who were not there to be work-
ing - no criticism of them whatever - and the fact that an email sent the day before refers to an 
event taking place where it did.

Mr. Joe Hackett: I think that it was part of the working day.  The outcome of the vote was 
work.  There was a whole range of quite intense work-related activity that would have had to 
happen in the immediate aftermath of that vote.  Therefore it was not an event.  It was a work-
related activity.  The Secretary General made a decision that when that piece of work was taking 
place - that is, staff watching the results come through - he would be with them.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: So they were drinking champagne while working.

Mr. Joe Hackett: That he would be there for the result of the word coming through was 
what the email refers to.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: What type of sparkling wine was it?

Mr. Joe Hackett: Do you want me to answer that, Chair?  I said earlier that there was alco-
hol served and that the review did not find or was not in a position to find beyond that what the 
nature of the alcohol was other than the fact that it was some form of sparkling wine.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Finally I have a question for the Minister.  Earlier he said that he 
did not delete any text messages in relation to this event.  An article stated that he received a 
text message about it on 29 December 2021 but that when a freedom of information request was 
submitted looking for any texts referring to this issue which would have covered that period, the 
FOI response came back with no texts.  Does the Minister have any idea how that happened?

Deputy  Simon Coveney: All I can say is that I have not deleted any texts and I have com-
plied with the rules under FOI.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Was there a mistake by someone in the Department or -----

Chairman: There were a lot of articles written by a lot of people as Deputy Murphy well 
knows.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: The Department stated that a comprehensive search of the Minis-
ter’s phone had found no messages pertaining to the incident however the Minister is saying 
that his phone still contains a message that does relate to it.

Deputy  Simon Coveney: I have not deleted any texts.  My understanding is that I have 
complied fully with my obligations under FOI in relation to this issue.

Chairman: I take it neither the Secretary General nor the Minister wishes to add to any-
thing that has already been said at the meeting.  That being the case, I will bring the matter to a 
conclusion and we will draw a line under this issue.
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I thank the Secretary General for coming here and for the comprehensive report which was 
circulated to members some time ago in preparation for this meeting.  I thank the Minister for 
coming here and dealing with the questions in the manner in manner in which he did so.  

The joint committee adjourned at 6.09 p.m. until 10 a.m. on Thursday, 10 February 2022.


